

MEMORIAL

Alderman Simon Peter Depena J.P. (1889-1964)

RON RATHBONE PRIZE 2017

Examining the story behind the naming of Depena Reserve, Sans Souci.

Leonie Bell May 2017

Cover photo: "Four Times of the Day", detail from panorama on Depena Reserve amenities block, depicting Depena Reserve, designed by Steven Vella, 2008 Photo by Leonie Bell

MEMORIAL- Simon Peter Depena J.P. (1889-1964)

© Leonie Bell 2017

Contents

Memorial 1
Peter Depena Reserve 2
Character 4
Parents5
Three marriages
Early days in Scarborough10
Ethnicity 12
Education 13
David Depena16
Clarice Leith Depena
Lillian Irene Royall
Marriage and family 20
Boxing career
Peter the carpenter
Innovative business ventures
Illness
Peter the Master Builder
Peter the sportsman 27
Peter the Freemason 30
Politics
Campaigning for modern transport
Administration enquiry

A healthy agenda	
A run- in with the police	
On the campaign trail	
Winds of change	40
Death	42
Conclusion	43
Appendix 1 Depena Family Tree	44
Acknowledgments	45
Bibliography	46
Index	51
Notes	

Memorial

NOUN.

'A statue or structure established to remind people of a person or event; Intended to commemorate someone or something; a record or memoir' ¹

There are numerous ways for a council to memorialise its most prominent citizens for their civic achievements. A select few are lucky enough to have a statue erected in their image, others a simple inscribed bronze plaque on a wall or plinth. Sometimes an award or scholarship will be offered in their name, or a building or auditorium will be dedicated in their honour. Many councils name a park or public recreation area after a prominent local identity.

The expectation is that the person's achievements will be remembered forever, but time erodes memory. After a few years those who knew the person die or move on to other localities and the memory of the awardee dissolves into thin air. All that is left is an entry in a street directory or a sign on the building façade or park entrance stating its nomenclature, but revealing nothing more about this once locally-famous person.

This work seeks to explore the stories behind one such name that adorns public space in the Bayside area, and to restore his deeds and philanthropy to public memory.



Alderman Simon Peter Depena served the community on Rockdale Council from 1928-1937 Photo: Mark De Pena

Peter Depena Reserve

A memorial to Alderman Simon Peter Depena J.P.

The reserve is named after prominent Alderman, Master Builder and sporting identity Simon Peter Depena, known to all by his middle name.

Having previously knocked back the opportunity to purchase parkland from the Shady Nook Estate, Rockdale Council purchased a parcel of land from the Norman Estate in 1930, bounded on the west by the creek and the north by Russell Avenue, with the idea that it would provide superior picnicking facilities. This added to the existing Cook Park which stretched along the sea front from Cooks River to the Sans Souci Ferry at Rocky Point.^{2 3}



Peter Depena Reserve 2017, Photo: Leonie Bell

Peter Depena described the purchase in a 1961 interview;

"This was my pet baby. It was my idea to resume the land. With the loss of Shady Nook, the ratepayers did not want to lose this block. The agitation was strong but there was no money. However, the council agreed to leave the matter to the ward aldermen and we successfully proposed the land be resumed and the £4,500 cost met from the Brighton Bath profits". ⁴



Sols Refreshment Room and Fish Inn at Dolls Point Park (Peter Depena Reserve), circa 1950s Photo: Bayside Council Library This addition to Cook Park was formerly known as Dolls Point Park, until August 1961, when Rockdale aldermen voted to re-name the area Peter Depena Reserve in honour of the man who had been instrumental in its creation. The reserve was in the process of renovation, with a new kiosk and picnic pavilion in construction, and the time was ripe to christen the rejuvenated park with a new name. The pavilion was also accorded the name Peter Depena, while the trendily designed kiosk with its distinctive, geometric tower was called Dolls Point Kiosk. The dedication plaque and signage describing Peter's contribution to the area has since been removed. ⁵



The Mayor, aldermen and leading citizens attend a tree planting ceremony at Brighton-le-Sands 6 August 1932. Peter Depena is just visible at the rear of the crowd, identifiable by his dark complexion. Photo: Bayside Council Library Located in Russell Avenue, Dolls Point, near the site of the late Peter Depena's home, the park features extensive grassy bayside areas with BBQs, playgrounds and picnic shelters, and is popular for group outings. Over the years, it has been the site of many family picnics and exuberant Australia Day celebrations.



1961 Construction of the Dolls Point Kiosk on the site of the newly renamed Peter Depena Reserve Photo: Bayside Council Library

Character

Peter was the kind of member that every sporting organisation or club loves – someone who was never content to be a passive onlooker, but threw himself into the organisation heart and soul, always available to fill a committee position or organise a fund-raising event. He was deeply community minded, campaigning for improvements to local infrastructure long before being elected to Rockdale Council in 1928. Alderman Depena was a skilled orator who could carry an argument with aplomb in a debate or public meeting. He was a prolific letter writer, and the St George Call newspaper is full of his 'Letters to the Editor'. He was a man of openness, integrity and public spirit; the ideal local councillor.



Peter was a solid, reliable citizen, renowned for his modesty, honesty and good character, which was considered 'beyond reproach'. He once declared that his aim in life was to be "honourable and just to all". He was always ready to offer advice and assistance to those who solicited help. He was a handsome man, once described as energetic, a straight-goer and a ball of energy.

One reporter contrasted his foreign appearance and his character; 'as dark of feature as he is white of heart'. Another journalist at the Sun newspaper attributed his good nature to his triumph over racial discrimination; 'his charm of manner, a winning personality, an integrity beyond question, and a flair for oratory have helped Alderman Depena to overcome all those prejudices and become possibly the only "colored" (sic) alderman in the State.' ^{6 7 8 9 10}



1969 Sailing at Dolls Point Reserve, Peter's favourite pastime Photo: Bayside Council Library

Depena Reserve 2017 Photo: Leonie Bell

Parents

Simon Peter Depena, known universally as Peter Depena, was a local lad, born at home in 22 Park Road, Sans Souci (variously described as located in Ramsgate, Scarborough, Sandringham or Kogarah) on 19 June 1889, reputedly the first male birth registered in Ramsgate. His parents were recorded on the birth certificate as Agnes Smiley and Inelmo De'peni. At other times his father's name was recorded as Ancleno, Aneleno, Auselius, Anselmo, or Anselm De Penas. Since it was so frequently mispronounced and misspelled, Peter's father eventually decided to anglicize his name to Samuel, but his family and friends knew him as Anselm. ^{11 12}

Anselm was an illiterate labourer and market gardener, born about 1855 in Kingston (possibly the name of a plantation rather than a village), on



the island of St Jago (Santiago), Cape de Verde, 620 km off the West coast of Africa. He was of African descent, but allegedly became a naturalised British subject. ^{13 14}

An early 1746 map of Cape de Verde Islands Graphic from Wikimedia Commons ¹⁵ While some of the Cape de Verde Islands are flat and sandy, the majority are jagged volcanic peaks perched in the Atlantic Ocean, uninhabited when the Portuguese discovered them in 1456. A colony was established in Santiago in 1462 and it became a trade hub between Africa, Europe, and the Americas, where African slaves were exchanged for manufactured goods.

Although the islands have always been arid, suffering from cyclical drought and chronic water shortages which severely limit agriculture, they produced cane sugar, rum and bananas for the European markets. Their most profitable business was the slave trade, which was centred on Santiago for three hundred years. In 1853, around the time of Anselm's birth, a slave uprising occurred, which was suppressed with a great deal of bloodshed. Slavery was finally abolished on Cape Verde in 1878. As a result of this infamous trade, the population is either of African descent, or a mixture of African and European known as mestiço or Crioulo.

Anselm's father is described on his death certificate as a planter named De Pena, but his mother is unknown. Was he illegitimate? It may simply be that Anselm never discussed his parentage with his children, but alternatively, could he have been the offspring of a Portuguese sugar plantation owner or manager and his servant or slave? The surname certainly sounds more Portuguese than African. On the other hand, De Pena was a common surname on the islands, most of the population was racially mixed mulatto, and only 5.8% remained slaves by the time of his birth. It is an interesting speculation, but must remain just that— a speculation Perhaps we will never know, but it is certainly a possibility.¹⁶ There was widespread emigration in the latter half of the eighteenth century. Perhaps Anselm left the islands due to lack of work and the economic decline that followed the demise of the slave trade. Possibly he was affected by drought and famine, which plagued the islands. Like many Verdean expatiates, he could have sought work as a seaman, or alternatively, undertaken manual labour in Africa or the New World of the Americas. Instead he migrated to Australia sometime around 1883, where he met his future bride. Family tradition has it that he came out on a collier, jumping ship in Western Australia, where he moved around to avoid the authorities for six months before making his way to New South Wales. ^{19 20} ²¹ ²² ²³ ²⁴

His English spouse Agnes Jane Smiley was born in Ireland, in County Antrim, around 1861, but spent her childhood with her parents and siblings in England in the village of Meal Bank, Scalthwaiterigg, a small village 4 miles east of Kendall, Westmoreland, by the banks of the River Mint. This is an area of the Lake District, described in John Bartholomew's 1887 Gazetteer of the British Isles as a landscape of 'mountain, moor, and fell, intersected by deep winding vales, traversed by numerous streams.' Scalthwaiterigg's population in 1870 was a mere 504 people residing in 89 houses, but people from the surrounding areas flocked to work in the mills, which were the major employers after farm labouring. Scalthwaiterigg featured a corn factory, a snuff manufacturer and woollen mills, where Agnes and her sister were employed.²⁵ ²⁶ ²⁷ ²⁸

These mills, situated by the banks of the River Mint, were powered by water wheels and steam-driven beam engines. They varied in size of operations, but one Kendal woollen mill owned by J.J. & W. Wilson was extensive, with dye houses, drying rooms, bleaching rooms, hot and cold presses, baling machines and a 2,350-square yard (1,964 square metre)

spinning and weaving room. Their 500 workers produced travelling rugs, tweed cloth, linings and blankets.²⁹

Agnes was a single young woman, living with her mother Ann, sister Sarah Jane (1861-1946) and brother Thomas (1859-1942), a farm labourer. Their father had passed away some time before, and their widowed mother died from chronic bronchitis in 1884. With no other family remaining but a brother James, who had long since left the family home, no doubt the three perceived a great opportunity opening up for them in the colonies. Working hours in the mill were long, with only Sundays off work. Stringent restrictive factory rules and regulations constrained the life and happiness of the employees, and the manual labour was dangerous and arduous. Surely life in Sydney would be better.

Labourers, factory workers, Irish Famine orphans, and domestic servants like Agnes, Sarah and Thomas, were actively recruited with low priced 'bounty' tickets to Australia, private schemes such as that organised by Caroline Chisholm, or with government assistance schemes, where the government would pay part, or all, of the passage as a loan which would be repaid from their wages. Many defaulted on the repayments, so eventually free assisted passage was offered.

Under the Bounty system, an agent would interview prospective immigrants before agreeing to provide passage to Australia. On arrival in Sydney they would be interviewed by the Immigration Board, and if they were considered suitable, the agent who had arranged the passage would be paid a bounty.^{30 31}

Eighteen months after the death of their mother, the siblings decided to voyage to a new land as assisted migrants. Agnes and Sarah now

described themselves as domestic servants to meet the requirements of the scheme. $^{\mbox{\scriptsize 32}}$

The trio sailed from England on 25 June 1886 from the Port of London to Plymouth. They continued south via the Cape to Australia, on the 2,039ton coal fired vessel S.S. Port Pirie, carrying 595 passengers and crew for an 85-day voyage. This was no pleasure cruise, but a challenging journey in cramped accommodation, shared with hundreds of English, Scottish and Irish workers bound for the Antipodes, each hoping for a fresh start in a land of opportunity. The ship was a mere 353 feet (107 m) long and 39 feet (11.8 m) wide. The first-class saloon was 'very handsomely fitted and furnished' for 35 full-fare paying passengers. However, she also carried 61 married couples, 196 children, 21 infants, 122 single men who were predominantly labourers and tradesmen, and 252 single women, who were mostly domestic servants to service the needs of the colony.

To keep themselves entertained on the lengthy, monotonous voyage the passengers performed in concerts, played deck sports and attended Divine Service every Sunday. The journey became a little more exciting when they encountered two storms in the notorious currents of the Southern Ocean, but the weather was generally mild.

There was an alarming outbreak of chickenpox on board, with 30 passengers catching the contagious disease. Four infants died as a result of contracting the illness. Agnes and her siblings arrived in Sydney on 17 September 1886. After spending so long at sea, the trio must have felt frustrated when the immigrants were quarantined on board at Watson's Bay for another three days, while their clothing was washed and disinfected and the ship fumigated. ³³

From 1848—1886 many migrant women passed through the immigration depot at Hyde Park Barracks in Sydney. Thomas, Agnes and Sarah most likely disembarked at the George Street wharf in Sydney and walked up dusty Macquarie Street to the Barracks, feeling both apprehensive and excited, wondering what kind of a place they had landed in. The town was much larger and more spread out than Kendall. Passing the porticoed buildings of Sydney Hospital (today the Mint Museum and Parliament House), they would have arrived at their destination, a three-story brick structure, with a gold-faced clock. From the outside, the building had an



elegant Georgian façade that belied the austere conditions they would encounter inside. Agnes and Sarah would probably have been accommodated for a day or two in a simple timber floored, open dormitory room, together with all the other young girls with whom they had shared the voyage.

Hyde Park Barracks Immigration Depot, designed by convict Francis Greenway (left) Photo: Leonie Bell

In the mornings, employers arrived at the depot to hire young domestic servants. Because they didn't understand local wages, the sisters and their ship-board friends were ripe for exploitation. They may have been employed at a lower rate of pay than local girls, but as yet they wouldn't have known enough about local conditions to make a judgement. Besides, they probably didn't have much money with them and really needed to start work as soon as possible, to pay back the debt from the assisted passage.

Three marriages

Nothing is known of her early employment in the colony, but we do know that Agnes was successful in her quest for a new life. Just over two years later, Agnes and Anselm married in St Pauls Church, Kogarah, on 7 December 1888. They moved to Park Road, Ramsgate, where Anselm set up a modest market garden to provide for his family. Agnes must have found the flat, sandy, forested swamp area around her new home near Botany Bay quite a contrast to the misty peaks and dry-stone-walled, lush green valley pastures of her youth. ^{34 35}

They were very early settlers to the area, first recorded in Park Road on their son's birth certificate in 1889, and later in the Government Gazette dated May 1898. Rugleno Samuel Depeno is listed in Sands Directories as living in Park Road from 1900 to 1913, and A. De Pena (or A. Depena) from 1915 until his death. The most likely explanation is that Samuel is the anglicised version of Anselmo, and he probably dropped his first name for simplicity.³⁶

The dirt expanse of Park Road was not in a particularly good state of repair. It was so rutted that in 1907 Anselm and two neighbours complained to the council that carters delivering goods were driving their horses and carts on the footpaths to avoid the huge potholes. It was a dark road on a moonless night, lacking a streetlight.³⁷

Agnes's brother Thomas married Mary Corwell in 1889. They had a son, Thomas Lawrence (1890-1976), in Hurstville, before moving to Valley Heights in the lower Blue Mountains, where they looked after the gate crossing the railway line at Karaba (now Warrimoo) and Thomas worked as a railway fettler. Fettlers maintained the rail tracks. The fettlers would often camp by the side of the rail line in white canvas tents. Thomas and his workmates were able to obtain food supplies from Mr Casey, who opened the Valley Heights Store in 1910, running a canteen for the men constructing the double line from Emu Plains to Valley Heights. Passengers on passing trains would toss their used newspapers from the train window for the fettlers to read.



Thomas Smiley with his sister Agnes Jane Depena

Photo: Mark De Pena

Fettlers worked in conjunction with the gangers, a skilled position requiring the men to ensure that the tracks were level, measured both horizontally across the two railway tracks and longitudinally along the length of the track. The ganger earned between 9 and 12 shillings per day and worked with a team of 4 fettlers. The fettlers did the heavy work of clearing ballast rocks from between the sleepers. The rail was then lifted with a jack, while the ganger crammed in the small stones called 'chippings' under

the sleepers, using a pick-like tool or the end of a shovel. ³⁸ ³⁹ ⁴⁰ ⁴¹ ⁴²

Today this work is undertaken using multi-million dollar machines and implementing stringent safety precautions, but Thomas was engaged in dangerous work. Newspapers of the time contain dozens of reports of men who slipped and jammed their foot under a rail, or who dropped a 40-foot (12 metre) length of rail weighing 80 lbs (36Kg), crushing bones and amputating toes. The clang of blue metal ore on the shovel could mask the rumble of an approaching steam train, and Thomas would have needed to keep a sharp ear for trains while working on the line, particularly as a delayed train could mean they were not running according to the timetable.^{43 44}

Thomas' gang conveyed goods and men up and down the line on a railway tricycle, a unique contraception that at first sight, viewed from one side, looked like a bicycle, albeit with large fat wheels that fitted over the railway track. On closer inspection, you could see that a bar was attached to the frame, extending across the sleepers to the parallel track, and a third wheel travelled along this rail. Initially they were constructed of timber, and in later decades from metal. The noise of the tricycle travelling the rails sometimes obscured the sound of an approaching train, and often fettlers were forced to leap for their lives from the machine, which would be smashed to matchsticks. No doubt Thomas would have known Albert Gibson, who received severe head wounds and concussion in a 1923 accident which involved the collision of a tricycle and a goods train at Katoomba. Albert was relatively lucky. Sometimes the men didn't hear the train unit it was too late. Railwaymen euphemistically termed this being 'overtaken' by a train.⁴⁵

It was there, slaving away in the icy chill of the winter mornings and the scorching heat of the summer sun, on the Emu Plains to Mt Victoria section of the line, that Thomas met his future brother-in-law Frederick J. Crothers, who was also a fettler on NSW Railways. Thomas earned 7 shillings per day. His friend was a far more experienced railwayman who had commenced his railway career at the age of 18 and worked on the tracks until he retired 42 years later. Consequently, Frederick earned the princely sum of 7 shillings 6 pence per day. ⁴⁶

Once a year the railways would organise a family picnic for several thousand rail employees, the joyous crowd boarding special steam trains to reach the venue. They indulged in consuming copious food and drink, dancing, and outdoor games such as tug-o-war. Thomas and his mate Frederick loved to compete in the friendly races at these events. In their early fifties, they were successful in the 'middle age race', but as they inched towards retirement the friends good-naturedly competed in the 'old buffers' events. ^{47 48}

Thomas Smiley survived the dangers of his profession, dying in Penrith in 1942 at the age of 83, leaving an estate worth £430. His obituary in the Nepean Times described him as a 'picturesque old gentleman, kindly disposed, and during his residence at Valley Heights had won the admiration of all. He was a constant worshipper at the Springwood Presbyterian Church'. His wife Mary preceded him, passing away in 1930.



49 50 51 52

Valley Heights Railway Station circa 1910. Photo: Blue Mountains City Library

Agnes's sister Sarah Jane married her brother's friend Frederick, the young railwayman from Penrith, in

1896. The Crothers family lived in Henry Street Parramatta where she was kept busy raising four young sons. Her only daughter died shortly after birth. The family was well-respected by the local community. Sarah was widowed in 1927, and died at her son Cecil's Penrith home on 19 June 1946, aged 84 years. ^{53 54 55}

Early days in Scarborough

Western Botany Bay was settled for thousands of years by the Bediagal and Kameygal people of the Darug nation. As Sydney expanded across the Georges and Cook Rivers, the first white settlers began to build farms and homes in the region in the 1850s, displacing the indigenous population and ransacking their food sources. They encountered large areas of forested, freshwater swamp. Today less than 7% of the wetland remains. For over a century it was progressively drained and filled in with waste and loose fill, and even in Peter Depena's day the draining of the swamps remained an important local issue.

The countryside was abundant with native fauna, including kangaroos and wallabies, bandicoots, waterfowl, echidnas, fish, and shell fish, all of which were decimated by the 1930s. There were also dangers for the early settlers from ferocious tiger snakes, and the irritation of flies and mosquito bites.

The majestic forest timbers of 40 or 50-metre-high turpentine and ironbark were progressively logged to construct homes, wharves, railway sleepers, boats and bridges. Dolls Point was original called Strippers Point, denoting it as an area where the timber cutters stripped the bark from the logs in the 1830s. Today there is only a small clump of this original vegetation to be seen in the Hawthorne Street Natural Area near Tonbridge Street, preserving 180 species of vertebrates and 250 species of native flora. The park showcases the type of Coastal Sands Swamp Forest and Kurnell Dune Forest vegetation which would have been prevalent when Agnes and Anselm moved to San Souci.⁵⁶

Much of the land was owned by land developer, businessman and politician Thomas Holt, who built a grand house called Sans Souci-

meaning 'without a care'- which was later converted into a hotel by William Rust. $^{\rm 57}$



Hawthorne Street Natural Area, a precious remnant of the bushland which once surrounded the settlements of Western Botany Bay. Photo: Leonie Bell

St George Parish of West Botany was renamed Rockdale in the late 1880s when Anselm and Agnes moved to the area. It was subdivided into three administrative areas called Wards. Rockdale Ward was located north of Bay Street extending to the Cooks River, comprising mostly swamp land and muddy mangroves, with mudflats separating it from the Parish of Botany. It featured a sewerage farm in the area now known as Kyeemagh. There was a small settlement near Arncliffe Station on the Wolli Creek side of the railway line; another around Rockdale Station and a cluster of houses near today's intersection of Bestic Street and General Holmes Drive at Brighton Le Sands. A third estate was located near the Saywall's Swimming Baths at the end of Bay Street. The baths were built by Thomas Sayward, who also financed a tram line from Rockdale Station to the baths in 1885, which also serviced the nearby Moorfield Racecourse, and the Brighton Hotel, on the current Novotel site.⁵⁸

The most populous area was Arncliffe Ward, which lay on the western side of the rail line, bounded by Harrow Road, Bexley Road and Wolli Creek.

The De Peni's lived in Scarborough Ward in Park Road, which ran between Rocky Point Road and Frederick Street. This ward was bounded on its northern end by Bay Street, its western perimeter defined by Rocky Point Road. It extended south to Sans Souci and Rocky Point. When Anselm and Agnes moved there, kangaroos and wallabies could still be seen leaping through the bush, although in diminishing numbers as the years wore on.

Their first child Simon Peter Depena was born in 1889. The family increased when Peter's brother David was born two years later in 1891, and his younger sister Clarice Leith was born in 1894. ^{60 61 62}

Agnes and Anselm remained the rest of their lives in their Park Road home, where Anselm made a living as a market gardener and they kept a few cattle. He died at the age of 78 in 1933 after a long, debilitating illness. Peter's father had struggled for 25 years with spastic paraplegia, a progressive weakness and stiffness of the legs. Cause of death was a cerebral haemorrhage which he had suffered 18 days previously. ^{63 64 65 66} Anselm was well-known and had been held in high regard by the local community. Today we might shudder at the well-meaning but racist compliment of an alderman, expressed at the Rockdale Council meeting following the funeral. Extending his sympathy to the family, he condescendingly declared that Anselm was 'one of the whitest men ever in the district.'

Peter's reply was gracious and affecting;

'I did not realise it before as I do now, that I have lost one of the best friends I ever had. It was a wonderful honour to see a large representative crowd at the funeral, bearing testimony to the poor dad's popularity. He was a braver man than ever I will be. For years, in greatest suffering, he fought out to the end, one of the bravest things I have ever known. He had a cheery smile of welcome, and no one was ever refused assistance who went to his house, and in conclusion, I can simply say I have lost a great old dad.' ⁶⁷

The Obituary published in the St George Call described him as a pioneer resident of Ramsgate who was;

'beloved by all who came in contact with him, was well-known by his many acts of kindness to those in need. Always a hard worker, the older residents of Rockdale bear testimony to his honest principles.' ⁶⁸

Anselm was buried at Woronora Cemetery. His widow passed away 30 December 1941, leaving an estate to the value of £533. Her ashes are buried beside her husband's body, beneath the grass of an unmarked grave, sprinkled with the purple blossoms of a nearby Jacaranda tree. ^{69 70}

Ethnicity

Due to his mixed heritage, Anselm and Agnes's son Peter was dark skinned, and sometimes referred to in the newspapers as 'coloured'. He was raised in the era of the 'White Australia Policy' when racial discrimination was rife. However, as Tony Ohlsson points out in the Royal Australian Historical Society Journal, not all proponents of a White Australia did so out of hatred for black people. Some politicians feared that if wealthy landowners were to import cheap labour from China and India to ease a temporary labour shortage, a sub-class of oppressed and vulnerable people would be created, separated from wider society by culture, language and custom. It was thought that black or Asian immigration could lead to the long term social and economic detriment of the colony. Proponents of this view considered that unregulated, indentured labour was slavery in action, if not in name, as was later proven in the case of the Queensland Kanakas.⁷¹

As a result of this contentious policy, there were very few non-Caucasian residents in Australia in general, and the St George District in particular. According to the Australian Bureau of Statistics, Australia's population in 1888 was 3,672,800, with just over a million residents in NSW. Sydney's entire urban population in 1889 was 381,730 persons. The 1881 census states that 60.8% of the population was born in Australasia, with an additional 33.39% born in the UK. Immigrants from other British Possessions were a scant 0.51%. Subtracting the remaining European and American immigrants, this leaves a total of 3.42% of the Australian population who were non-Caucasian.⁷²

The Rockdale community contained a small minority of Chinese market gardeners. Additionally, there were indigenous Australians, who were gradually forced into shanty camps at Blakehurst and Sans Souci, on the site of today's St George Motor Boat Club.⁷³

Unsurprisingly. there were very few men of African or Afro-Caribbean heritage in Australia, the most well-known being the Jamaican convict Billy Blue (1767-1834) who was transported to Sydney in 1801. It is easy to see why Peter and his brother trained in the gym with the two wellknown African American fighters Sam Langford and Sam McVey. The four men must have felt a kind of kinship and shared experience as outsiders.

Racial discrimination can take many forms. Olga Duggan, an early Souci resident, recalled that Peter received the nickname Pelaco, named after a famous brand of shirt. One company advertisement featured a grotesque sketch of a black indigenous man wearing a Pelaco shirt with the line "Mine tinkIt they fit".⁷⁴

For a dark-skinned man of African heritage, life would have been quite challenging at times in this predominantly European environment, yet Peter Depena was to prove that with dedication, hard work and generosity of spirit, anything was possible.⁷⁵



Kyeemagh Market Gardens. Many Chinese immigrants worked in the gardens. Anselm's market garden would have looked similar to this plot. Photo: Bayside Council Library

Education

Peter's first school was Sans Souci School, which opened in 1885 and was known as Sandringham School for many years. When Peter approached the school on his first day he saw an unlined timber structure with a tin roof. It was situated on a two-acre (8,000 square metres) block of land dotted with wattle trees which had been planted by the students on Arbor Day, an annual tradition. Three was also a cricket pitch, which would have been great fun for sports-loving Peter. The enclosed verandah of the school building operated as a hat room and wash room, but there was no town water. The water supply for the wash room was a large square water tank attached to the rear of the building. The teacher's residence was located adjacent to the schoolhouse, surrounded by a white picket fence. It featured a small front garden planted with a selection of trees, and five steps led up to the front verandah.

When he entered the single classroom, measuring 24 feet (7.3 metres) long and 16 feet (4.8 metres) wide, he was directed to sit at a 10 foot (3 metre) long wooden desk, perched on a hard, backless bench seat, squashed together with ten other infants. His teacher, Marion Gaudrey, was a recently a qualified teacher, having been appointed to Sans Souci School as a pupil-teacher in 1891. She had been employed in a full-time training role for four years, teaching the children in the classroom, while receiving an hour or so of instruction in teaching from the Principal Teacher each afternoon when the students had left for home. Most pupil teachers were employed when they were 14-16 years old, so it is highly likely Peter's teacher was less than 20 years old. ⁷⁶

The older children were at the other end of the room, taught by Montague Wyatt, who had been appointed Principal the previous June. He was about 30 years old and recently married. The room was quite crowded, as there were about 95 students enrolled, although on average only about 70 arrived for class each day. By the time Peter graduated from elementary school, the student body had increased to about 144.

The classroom was heated by a wood fire in an open fireplace, fuelled by firewood which the children scavenged from the bush en-route to school each chilly winter morning.

The teachers frequently reminded the students to sit up straight, as good posture was important. His class commenced at 9.30am and finished at 4pm, which was a long time for the small children to sit erect on the uncomfortable forms. The infants would frequently fall asleep with fatigue, their little heads resting on the desks.

Peter's school year comprised four terms, with a four-week holiday at Christmas, one week in Easter and two in Winter. In 1903 this was modified to four weeks at Christmas, and one week each at Easter, Winter and Spring. Students were arranged in classes 1 to 5, based around a set of graded reading material. Generally, it took more than a year to complete each grade. The recommended durations were eighteen months for Class 1; two years each for Classes 2 and 3; one year each for Classes 4 and 5. However in practice these recommendations were often exceeded. Peter took ten years to complete all five levels.⁷⁷

Peter studied the 'three Rs', reading, writing and arithmetic. He was issued with a slate and slate pencil for writing exercises, which involved copying letters and words. Later when he moved on to Class 2 he received a copy book to replace the slate. Using a pen and ink took practice, as it was always a struggle not to smudge the black ink on the page. The teacher was fond of asking the children to copy proverbs into their copy book, which had the dual purpose of providing instruction in both writing and moral guidance. When he had developed a reasonable vocabulary, Peter was required to improve his spelling by writing out passages dictated by the teacher. He also studied geography by drawing maps, illustrated with key physical features and major towns. When Peter commenced school, Australia was still a British colony, so it was natural that history lessons concentrated on learning the dates of the reigns of the British kings and queens. In a nod to Australian history they were taught about the journeys of Australian explorers such as Burke and Wills.

Discipline and patriotism to the British Empire were emphasised during Cadet Corps sessions. Both boys and girls marched briskly around the playground in exercises which were laid out in the British Army textbook. The boys then drilled with wooden rifles. However physical fitness could also be fun. Principal Wyatt organised a Swimming Club in 1894. No doubt Peter and his class mates, many of them in bare feet, would have eagerly traipsed past the cow paddocks and surrounding bushland to Sans Souci Swimming Enclosure, to splash about in the bay. As a bonus, swimming club members left class early one day per week to train. ⁷⁸



Sans Souci Swimming Enclosure 1912, Photo: Bayside Council Library Many of Peter's fellow students were the children of servants, fishermen, or gardeners like his father. Although there were some middle-class children attending the school, class distinction saw some parents send their children to Kogarah School rather than suffer the indignity of their offspring associating with the common working classes.

Sans Souci Public School did not offer tuition in the higher Classes 4 and 5, so Peter progressed to Kogarah Superior Public School, where he enjoyed swimming with the Kogarah Public School Swimming Club. The children's swimming carnivals were both competitive and fun. They competed in serious championship relays and freestyle events, but also enjoyed the antics of novelty races, such as the quaintly named 'Searching for the North Pole' or 'Catching the Duck.^{79 80}



San Souci Public School. The boys carry wooden rifles for drill practice. Photo: Bayside Council Library.

Kogarah Public School opened in 1870 and became a Superior Public School in 1891, until 1912, when the school system was reformed. A Superior School combined primary and secondary school education. Unlike a High School which featured specialised university-trained teachers, the Superior School teacher instructed the students in all subjects. Superior Schools were first formed in 1881 and by the 1890s when Peter was attending school, there were 64 Superior Public Schools in NSW offering further studies for those who had completed the elementary school course. The Public Instruction Act of 1880 compelled parents to send children to school for a minimum of 70 days per sixmonth period from the age of six. Since schooling was only compulsory until the age of 14, most boys of his age considered there was no need to progress beyond elementary school, or at most completed two years of secondary education, before moving on to full time work or trade training. High Schools were still a novel idea, and very few students attended these institutions, which were primarily aimed at university preparation. There were only four High Schools in Sydney in 1905.^{81 82}

Peter's grade 4 subjects were now reading, writing, dictation, arithmetic, Euclid (geometry), object lessons, history, geography, singing and drawing. As he moved to his final year this expanded to include mathematics, Latin and science. Peter passed the Junior Commercial Certificate in 1905, aged 16, and was presented with his certificate by the NSW Governor, Admiral Sir Harry Holdsworth Rawson K.C.B. ^{83 84 85}

He commenced training as a carpenter at Sydney Technical College the following year. Peter showed great promise in his woodworking skills, passing the second-year examinations in carpentry with Honours. His illiterate father Anselm would surely have been proud of his son's educational achievements. He may not have been quite so proud of his other son's behaviour. ^{86 87}



Sans Souci School about 1895. Peter Depena is centre in the front row. Photo: NSW State Archives and Records⁸⁸

David Depena

Peter's younger brother Dave shared his brother's love of sport, particularly boxing and horse racing, and enjoyed cycling as a youth. Dave Depena was a brawny man, as might be expected of a boxer. Peter and Dave trained with African American boxer Sam Langford. For years afterward, people would recall that Dave once fought the famous Les Darcy in the ring. His prowess was well known in boxing circles as a featherweight who was 'as full of energy as a fighting cock'. ^{89 90 91}

Dave punched strenuously, like a hurricane, hard and fast. He was once described a 'nuggety little chap' and a 'clean plucky little boxer', but he could also be a pugnacious fighter. In one bout, he was disqualified for persistently adopting rough tactics in the clinches, delivering forbidden kidney punches, and disobeying the-referee's orders to break.^{92 93}

When Dave Depena retired from boxing around 1916, his passion for horse racing led to a short-lived career as a pony trainer, but trouble, and his boxing career, never seemed far away. If it wasn't something to do with the horses, it was his penchant for getting into a fight. He was a gambler, and once when called upon to substantiate an alibi in Darlinghurst Court, he stated that he clearly remembered what he was doing on that particular date, because he had 'struck a double' at Rosebery Park races. The pony training didn't last long and eventually in mid-1925 he obtained work as an iron moulder's labourer.⁹⁴

Dave's consumption of alcohol frequently found him in trouble with the law. Peter would have been proud of his younger brother's boxing prowess, but it must have been deeply disturbing, if not humiliating, to the celebrated alderman, when David's activities were reported in the press. In July 1925, a drunken David Depena punched the proprietor of a Pitt Street wine bar, and one of his employees, for refusing to loan him money. He was fined £2 in Central Police Court. ⁹⁵

In November 1925, he assaulted a man in Pitt Street, demanding he give him two shillings, and was subsequently brought up on charges of assault



Peter's brother, 20-year-old boxer Dave Depena Photo from St George Call, 14 October 1911 ⁹⁶ occasioning actual bodily harm. He was back in court in February 1926 and again in November on similar charges of assaulting an acquaintance near Tattersalls in Pitt Street. The February charge was proved but he was acquitted of the latter event. Unsurprisingly, the dispute concerned the payout from a gambling bet.^{97 98 99 100 101}

Dave was convicted in December 1930, in Redfern Police Court, of printing betting slips and conducting an extensive, lucrative illegal betting operation on the Warwick Farm horse races. He was fined £30 in lieu of three months jail for the tipping competition and a further £10 or 40 days jail for printing thousands of betting tickets.¹⁰²

A large crowd gathered in great excitement on Pitt Street, Sydney, in 1933, when aggression turned to punches between David and a sailor. Once again, he was convicted of riotous conduct. ¹⁰³

While Peter Depena became a successful businessman, his brother was a labourer who turned to contracting. Unfortunately, he did not share his older sibling's business sense. Dave went bankrupt in 1951, owing money to Hastings Deering Pty Ltd. ¹⁰⁴

Eight months later, Dave was struck with a sudden, mortal illness. He died in hospital at the age of 59 on 19 September 1951 and his ashes were buried in Woronora Cemetery.¹⁰⁵



Moorfield Racecourse was not far from the Depenas' home. It operated from 1888—1961. James Cook Boys High School and Moorefield Girls High School are located on the site. ¹⁰⁶ Photo: Bayside Council Library

Clarice Leith Depena

Peter's little sister Clarice lived with her parents in Park Road, offering her services as a dressmaker through advertisements in the local newspaper.¹⁰⁷

Indian herbalist Bhand Chand Shergill Munshi was living nearby in 1060 Rocky Point Road in 1927, just a few doors down from her brother Peter. Bhand was born about 1877 and had run a boarding house in Adelaide in 1917 before moving to Newtown in Sydney about 1919. It is uncertain when they married, but by 1930 Clarice was living with her husband at 5 Park Street, near her parent's house. Her spouse moved out of the family home in the mid-1930s and Clarice relocated to her parent's house. He died intestate in 1952 in Ludhiana, in Punjab state, India, aged 75. ¹⁰⁸ 109

After the death of her father in 1933 Clarice continued to look after her mother, until Agnes died in 1941. Clarice was in no hurry to vacate the home in which she had grown up with so many happy memories. Clarice did not move on until the fifties, when she relocated to Carlton, eking out a living as a shirt-maker and machinist. She retired to Kirrawee in the sixties, briefly returned to Sans Souci in the seventies, but died at Sylvania Heights on 10 July 1977, aged 83. She is buried in Woronora Cemetery. 111 112 113 DRESSMAKING-Miss C. Depena, Parkroad, Sans Souci. Your favors punctually attended to.

Advertisement appearing in the St George Call, 1914

Lillian Irene Royall

Peter met and fell in love with local teenager Lillian Irene Royall, who was born in December 1896, the daughter of Frederick Charles Royall and Lucy Catherine Islip. When Lillian was a toddler the family lived in Gosford, where her father worked as a saddler in 1903. Lillian experienced the devastating loss of her mother in 1908 at the age of 11 years old. Lillian was a lone child, with no brothers or sisters to share her grief. Frederick Royall and his daughter had only each other for support,



but times were tough for her father, who was engaged in a rapidly vanishing profession. As the new century progressed and increasing numbers of people owned cars rather than horses, he was forced to abandon his skilled trade to find other income streams. Following Lillian's marriage, with no family to care for, he was free to move wherever work was available or the whim took him. Frederick moved to Kalgoorlie about 1916 and then Gippsland, where he worked as a barman during the twenties. ^{114 115}

Lillian Irene Royall. Photo: Mark De Pena

Returning briefly to visit his daughter in 1929, Frederick applied for one of 28 positions at Brighton-le-Sands Municipal Swimming Baths and Dressing Sheds, responding to an advertisement in the local press. In today's modern age of Human Resource departments, we find might it curious that the Rockdale Council Aldermen were expecting to choose the

successful candidates themselves. To their horror, 400 people applied, and the council chambers were awash in reams of paperwork. Clearly one council meeting offered insufficient time to consider the virtues of each resume, let alone make a choice. A Special Meeting was convened to discuss the problem. Peter Depena was seen to have a conflict of interest and the councillors requested he absent himself from the selection process. It was eventually resolved to appoint only the Baths Manager, who would then personally interview and select his new staff. The aldermen gave a sigh of relief that they didn't need to sift through 400 applications after all.¹¹⁶

It seems Frederick was unsuccessful in his application. He took up an opportunity as a watchman (security officer) in Newcastle for a couple of years before finally returning to Rockdale, where he Initially lived in Premier Street as a caretaker. Around the mid-1940s he moved into his son-in-law's property at 1130 Rocky Point Road, Ramsgate. Although the old age pension had been introduced in NSW in 1900, he continued to work into his seventies as a cleaner, until his death in 1954 aged 81. ¹¹⁷



Brighton Baths, 1931

Photo: Bayside Council Library

Marriage and family

In April 1914 twenty-four-year-old Peter married Lillian Irene Royall, who was five years younger than her spouse. Consent to the marriage had to be obtained from the Registrar General, as she was underage. Following in his parent's footsteps, Peter and Lillian married in St Paul's Church, Kogarah. Peter looked debonair in his three-piece suit with starched collar, white bowtie and gloves, and a white carnation buttonhole. Lillian wore an elegant full-length dress, overlaid in sheer fabric, with a ruched bodice and long sleeves gathered at the wrist. ¹¹⁸



Peter and Lillian were married in St Pauls Church, Kogarah, as were his parents Anselm and Agnes

Photo: Leonie Bell

Just a few months after their wedding, Britain declared war

on Germany. Australian volunteers were immediately called upon to fight for the 'Mother Country'. They were required to be 6' 6" (198 cm) tall, and a minimum age of 20. Both Peter and his brother Dave were the right age to enlist in the Australian Imperial Force, but probably not tall enough and definitely not the right colour. The 'Instructions for the guidance of enlisting officers at approved military recruiting depots' issued in 1916, stated that 'Aboriginals, half-casts, or men with Asiatic blood are not to be enlisted – This applies to all coloured men.' As the war dragged on, it soon became apparent that Australia could not meet its commitment to Britain to supply men for the war effort. At the end of 1915, Prime Minister Billy Hughes promised Britain 50,000 more troops – in addition to the 9,500 per month being sent as reinforcements for the 60,000 Australians already overseas. Compounding the difficulty, the population rejected conscription by a narrow margin in two referendums in 1916 and 1917. The government was forced to relax not only the height and age restrictions, but also the racial bar.

In October 1917, a new military order stated: 'Half-castes may be enlisted in the Australian Imperial Force, provided that the examining Medical Officers are satisfied that one of the parents is of European origin.' Exact numbers of indigenous aboriginal men who fought in the war are estimated to be around 1,000, but the figure is uncertain, as race was not usually noted on the enlistment papers, simply 'dark complexion 'or a similar description. Several hundred Chinese also signed up for overseas service. ¹¹⁹

By this stage, Peter had begun a family and was settled into his sporting and business endeavours and his new home. It is understandable that although he was now eligible to enlist, he resisted the renewed call to arms. Neither he nor his brother went to war.

Peter and Lillian's first daughter Irene C. was conceived in 1914, tragically dying at birth, as did second daughter Beryl J., who was born in 1922, dying in infancy the same year. $^{120\ 121\ 122}$

A son, Peter Joffre, was born at home in 1915, delivered by Nurse Winchester and Doctor Binns. Peter was 26 years old, and Lillian a teenage mother at 18. Second son Neville Frederick was born 7 June 1918. Another brother Laurie David followed on 31 March 1919. After a ten-year gap, there was one final son, Raymond George, born in 1929. ¹²³ At the age of 18 Peter already owned a block of land in Sans Souci, which is recorded as experiencing flooding during wet weather in 1907, and he lived in the Scarborough Ward of Rockdale most of his life, moving from his parent's Park Road home to 1130 Rocky Point Road, Sans Souci on his marriage. The property remained in the family ownership, while Peter and Lillian briefly moved to a house named 'Camden' in Campbell Street, Kogarah, from 1916 to 1919, then returned to Rocky Point Road for a decade before purchasing a family home at 156 Russell Avenue, Dolls Point. They briefly considered buying Primrose House at the end of the street; the elegant two-story structure built in 1891 by James Eve as the Scarborough Hotel. Peter decided Primrose House was too expansive for their needs, as it featured accommodation for 40 people. ^{126 127 128}

Russell Avenue was a gracious tree-lined thoroughfare. Peter's two story, nine room, residence was located on a large half acre block with 120 feet frontage (36 metres) and stretching to 200 feet deep (61 metres). It featured a grass tennis court, which was perfect for entertaining and hosting social days and picnics for the many associations and sporting bodies he was involved with. ^{129 130 131}



Russell Avenue Sans Souci, 1914 Photo: Bayside Council Library



Simon Peter Depena and Lillian Irene Royall on their wedding day, 8 April 1914 Photo: Mark De Pena

Boxing career

Peter loved sport of all kinds. He was a popular lightweight boxer who began entering amateur boxing matches around 1910, turning professional on 21 June 1912 at the age of 23, when he faced London fighter Young Sullivan for 20 rounds. Peter was the first 'coloured' boxer to appear at the Star Stadium, Wollongong in December 1912. The following year he faced opponent Franz Barrett in a Wollongong match which displayed stamina and 'gamenous' from both parties and resulted in a win by the boy from Ramsgate over 20 hard-fought rounds. His sparring partner was African American Sam McVey and he trained at the Stroud Gym with another African American fighter known as 'The Boston Tar Baby', Sam Langford. He rose early each morning to run on the sands of the Botany Bay beachfront near his home, and trained again at the gym in the afternoon after work. ¹³² ¹³³ ¹³⁴ ¹³⁵ ¹³⁶ ¹³⁷ ¹³⁸ ¹³⁹ ¹⁴⁰ ¹⁴¹ ¹⁴² ¹⁴³

Although he retired from professional boxing around 1916, he was always ready to don the gloves for a good cause. A benefit concert was held in 1930 to aid St George residents who were suffering from the effects of the Depression, many of whom were homeless and living in squatter's camps by the beach. Alderman Depena went three-rounds with Professor Russell, 'Champion of Scotland', as part of an entertaining, eclectic program of popular vaudeville acts, wrestling and boxing in the Rockdale Town Hall.¹⁴⁴

Top: Sans Souci Beach 1915, where Peter trained each morning Photo by Joseph Brokenshire, courtesy of Bayside Council Library

Bottom: 1930 The North Brighton Unemployed Camp, in the sand hills along Cook Park at Kyeemagh, to the north of where Cooks River now enters Botany Bay. Photo: Bayside Council Library





Peter the carpenter

Peter's early boxing career was concurrent with his more conventional work in the building industry. He was keenly interested in woodwork and became apprenticed to a local carpenter at the end of 1905, working while studying carpentry part-time at Sydney Technical College. Unlike today's schoolchildren who expect to take off a gap year, Peter finished school on Friday, and started work on Monday, earning a first-year apprentice wage of 2/6- (two shillings and six pence i.e. 26 cents) per week. The standard length of apprenticeship in this period was seven years and his salary would have gradually risen over this period.^{145 146}

Carpentry was hot, sweaty and hard physical labour. There were no power tools, no nail guns and no electric saws. The hardwood timber frame of a typical suburban house was hand-sawn. The structure was assembled and nailed with expert blows of the hammer. No doubt the fitness obtained through Peter's boxing training was beneficial to his trade work, but training after a day's work on the building site must have been exhausting at times.

On completion of his trade apprenticeship, Peter began life as a journeyman in a modest way, offering basic building services, but gradually increased his skills and knowledge, working his way up to become a highly respected a Master Builder. In 1917 Peter was installing fly screens, doors, and shop fittings, running a small tradesman's business from his Campbell Street home in Kogarah. Two years later he was operating from the corner of Rocky Point Road and Park Road, offering his services as a contractor specialising in shop and office fittings, fly screens and doors, fibrous ceilings, plastering and tuckpointing. Tuckpointing is a highly skilled job involving removing and replacing crumbling and missing mortar between stones, blocks and bricks. This prevents further deterioration due to moisture penetrating the failing joints and compromising the whole structure. ¹⁴⁷ ¹⁴⁸ ¹⁴⁹ ¹⁵⁰ ¹⁵¹

By 1921 he had moved up to building homes, advertising his building services to a target market of returned soldiers. His marketing motto was decidedly no-nonsense, and rather lacking in flair; 'Who gives a fair deal with no delay at a moderate figure'. The slogan later became 'Personal Attention Always. Honesty, Civility, and Attention,' as he expanded his services to include drawing plans and preparing specifications. ¹⁵² ¹⁵³



Advertisement for Peter Depena's building services Photo from St George Call, December 1921

Innovative business ventures

Most people travelled in the inner Sydney region by tram. For longer distance trips, the steam train was the main form of transport. Car ownership was very low and until the 1950s was predominantly in the realm of the upper middle classes. Deliveries were mostly undertaken in horse drawn carts until the 1930s, although businesses increasingly owned motor driven vans. In Sydney in 1923, a traffic survey revealed that 39.2 % vehicle movements were by horse-drawn vehicles, 33.8 % by car and 27 % by motor van or lorry. In 1920 one in 55 people owned a car. By the end of the decade this increased to one in eleven.

Today there are 18.4 million vehicles in Australia for an estimated 24.4 million people. In 1921 there were only 33,214 vehicles in New South Wales. Peter perceived a business opportunity. He owned a Baby Austin, a Dodge car and a Model T ford with a galvanised iron roof. In addition to marketing wedding car hire services, he offered customers the novel, luxury alternative of chauffeur driven excursions to the countryside by motorcar. ¹⁵⁴ ¹⁵⁵ ¹⁵⁶ ¹⁵⁷



Advertisement appearing in St George Call 1923

Lillian also enjoyed driving, and according to family lore was the first woman to drive over the Blue Mountains in the Baby Austin, although there is a competing claim that Lady Sholto George Douglas, formerly Mrs. Mendelssohn Pickles, of Sydney and Leura, was the first. ¹⁵⁸ One motorist of the period described the road;

'The drive through Penrith and over the Blue Mountains, passing through Katoomba and on to Mount Victoria, is very enjoyable, although some very high altitudes are reached, and careful driving on the mountain cuttings is necessary all the time.' ¹⁵⁹

The family collected a large quantity of interesting geological specimens on this trip, but the vehicle was not very powerful uphill. The car stuttered its way upward until finally they had to jettison the rocks one by one to lighten the load and make it over the top of the hill.¹⁶⁰



Lillian Irene Depena with her children Peter Joffre, Neville Frederick and Laurie David Photo: Mark De Pena

Illness

Apparently, Peter developed a problem with over consumption of alcohol, although this is not explicitly stated in the newspaper notice where he publicly thanked his medical staff for their assistance. Did he feel peer pressure to participate in drinking bouts at the pub with his mates? Perhaps he had felt pressured by the rough and tumble of life in the professional boxing circuit and the constant need to win. Possibly it was the pressure of starting up in business. In 1922, he decided to resolve his problem and spent some time in Brooklyn Hospital. ¹⁶¹

It is fortunate that he entered the institution in its early days, which at this stage was an asylum for alcoholics. Situated in a remote location on Peat Island on the Hawkesbury River, 56 km north of Sydney, this facility for the mentally ill and the inebriated was opened in 1911. An asylum should be a place of refuge for those who are vulnerable, but in its latter years the hospital developed a fearsome reputation for brutality, torture and suicides. It was a true Bedlam that was eventually closed when the last patient left in 2010.¹⁶²

His stay at Brooklyn Hospital was brief and Peter resumed his life and increasingly successful business with vigour.



Brooklyn Hospital, Peat Island Photo: State Archives and Records NSW ¹⁶⁴

Peter the Master Builder

Peter's construction business continued to be highly successful. He joined the St George Branch of the Master Builders Association and was elected Junior Vice President in 1928. The Master Builders Association sponsored prizes for students of Carpentry and Plumbing at Kogarah Technical College, and Peter was only too pleased to introduce his colleagues to his former tutors. ^{165 166}

He was popular with his staff members, staging an annual employee's picnic for the 30 men who worked for him, to which he invited several business associates. In 1926 he hired three buses to transport them to Sublime Point and down Bulli Pass in the Illawarra for a splendid celebratory meal at Mr Kolle's Family Hotel in Bulli. Returning via the Royal National Park along the rustic, dirt track of Lady Carrington Drive, they arrived at Audley. This was the perfect spot for staging a friendly game of cricket. The men pitched and batted with gusto until the ball went over the boundary – in this case landing irretrievably in the Hacking River. Remaining undeterred, this was not to be the end of the day. They all proceeded to Peter's house in Sans Souci and partied on till midnight. Surely there cannot have been too many employers who so generously invited their workers home for tea. ¹⁶⁷

He also volunteered his Russell Avenue house and extensive gardens for the benefit of the North Scarborough Progress Association for a fete in 1930. Fortune-tellers, dancing, tennis, music and races for both adults and children enlivened the gala picnic which attracted 300 revellers, who raised £32 for local community causes. ¹⁶⁸ ¹⁶⁹

As a builder, he was a practical man, accustomed to the exertions of physical labour. Consequently, he was only too happy to organise and participate in a working bee to beautify Cook Park at Dolls Point in 1930. The council had insufficient funds to pay unemployed men to do the job.

Moreover, if they had spent money on parks there would have been substantial criticism that other infrastructure projects like roads were more important, as parks were considered a luxury item. Peter was to be seen swinging an axe along with other civic-minded residents, clearing the overgrown scrub in the park, attracting the admiration of residents who could see their alderman at work on their behalf. ¹⁷⁰



Master Builder Peter Depena Photo from Construction and Local Government Journal 1928 ¹⁷¹

Peter exhibited great courage when working at the Mortlake Gas Works In 1936. A colleague fell across an electric cable in what was potentially a lethal accident. Despite the threat of electrocution,

Peter hauled on the man's collar to drag him to safety. He received a shock up his arm, numbing the limb temporarily. He later admitted,

"I am lucky to be alive. It was an awkward position to be in. If I left the man there, he would have been electrocuted, and if I grabbed hold of him, I might have suffered the same fate." ¹⁷²

Of course, Peter was no saint. Presumably he was so busy with his carpentry business, council duties, campaigning and philanthropic work that he failed to lodge taxi returns in 1936 and 1937, for which he was fined \pm 50 in 1939. ¹⁷³

Peter the sportsman

There was more to the man than hard work. He loved sport in any form, particularly sailing and water sports, in which he first appears in the records around 1907. During his apprenticeship studies, he joined the Technical College Swimming Club and St George Swimming Club, winning several races. He went on to hold various committee positions in sporting clubs; Manager of Sans Souci Football Club, Social Secretary of the St George Junior Football Association, Vice-Patron of Scarborough Life Saving Club, and Patron of the St George Ladies Cricket Club. He competed with the Rockdale and District Cycling Club, enjoyed playing billiards, and remained a keen boxer. ¹⁷⁴ ¹⁷⁵ ¹⁷⁶ ¹⁷⁷ ¹⁷⁸ ¹⁷⁹ ¹⁸⁰ ¹⁸¹ ¹⁸²

In 1907, he became a founding committee member of the Pastime Club, which was a social club for young men, meeting Monday and Thursday nights at a local hall owned by hotel proprietor Mr Frater, where the boys could expend their energies donning boxing gloves, tossing rope quoits over a wooden peg mounted on a base, attacking the punching balls, gaining aerobic fitness with skipping ropes, and playing Bobs. This popular tabletop game was played with one black and six white balls about an inch (2.5cm) in diameter. Players scored points by using a wooden cue to propel the black ball into a white ball, attempting to knock them both into a series of pockets on a horizontal timber frame placed at the far end of the table. ¹⁸³ ¹⁸⁴

Peter's father came from an island nation, so perhaps the sea was in his blood. Sailing was his passion and he had been sailing on Botany Bay since approximately 1910. By 1921 he was a highly-experienced sailor and was elected Chairman and Umpire of the St George Sailing Club. By 1926 he held the position of Rear Commodore. He was elected unanimously as Vice Chairman of the St George Sailing Club in 1931, eventually rising to Commodore. He was appointed a life member in 1986. One journalist alleged that 'While Peter sits as an alderman, sailing on Botany Bay will never die.' ¹⁸⁵ ¹⁸⁶ ¹⁸⁷ ¹⁸⁸

In January 1929 Commodore Depena and fellow sailor Alf Polidore, Vice President of the St George Sailing Club travelled to Western Australia for the Interstate 16-foot Sailing Championships. They thoroughly enjoyed the 2 ½ day rail journey across the Nullarbor on the Transcontinental train, which they considered most luxurious. On arrival in Perth they were received very favourably by local club members. In fact, their hosts kept them so busy socialising, they commented that there had hardly been any time for sleep. Disappointingly, the NSW clubs had only sponsored one boat for the event, compared with Queensland, which had raised the funds to send three boats. Regardless, the trip was deemed a highly memorable success.¹⁸⁹ ¹⁹⁰



St George Sailing Club, Riverside Drive, Sans Souci,1956. The Hughes Boatshed was purchased in 1927 for a clubhouse. The club has since been re-sited twice. Photo: Bayside Council Library ¹⁹¹ Peter was generous with his patronage and in 1921 presented a magnificent trophy, in the form of a yacht, to the St George Sailing Club. This trophy was awarded for many years. He also donated prizes for various fundraising events for both the St George Sailing Club and the Ramsgate Amateur Swimming and Lifesaving Club.¹⁹² ¹⁹³



The silver Peter Depena Trophy Photo from the Arrow newspaper 1921

He won the Ramsgate Billiard tournament in 1924, watched by 80 members. Peter encouraged billiards club members by presenting trophies on several occasions, not only in his official role as local alderman, but as a lover of billiards. He proclaimed that to win in billiards a player needed 'the right temperament', a quality he possessed in abundance. ¹⁹⁴ ¹⁹⁵

Peter was involved with the St George Junior Football Association as early as 1909, actively participating in fundraising social activities, and became President of the Ramsgate 'C' Grade Football Club in 1923. His generosity to up and coming sportsmen was further demonstrated when he sponsored a gold medal for the winners of the First-Grade Competition. ^{196 197 198} Peter was talented with all ball games, including those of the bowling green, representing Rockdale Council in the Local Government versus St George Bowling Club annual bowls competition in 1929.¹⁹⁹

There was great anticipation for a special event at the St George District Amateur Athletics Club carnival to be held at Hurstville Oval in February 1936. The club invited aldermen from local councils to run a relay race, where teams of four aldermen had to run 75 yards each, to win a pennant which had been sponsored by the Leicagraph Photo Company. Kogarah, Rockdale, Bexley, Hurstville and Sutherland aldermen were at fever pitch in anticipation of the competition for the prized championship pennant. Bexley Council even postponed its meeting so that the councillors could attend the event. As usual, Peter was on the team representing Rockdale Council. Always an optimist, Peter reportedly joked that he was already preparing a space in the Rockdale Council Chamber for the championship pennant, to which a Hurstville alderman replied, "Over my dead body". Alas, several members of the Rockdale team tripped and fell mid race, smashing any hope of winning. Consequently, Alderman Norman Guess dropped out of the team, but the remainder were willing to train for the next event, a swimming carnival at Enfield. 200 201 202

When the St George Amateur Cycling Club held a benefit at Hurstville Oval in 1937 to aid the St George District Ambulance, naturally it was Peter Depena who was deputised by his fellow councillors to represent them in the half-mile bicycle derby for local aldermen. Dignified Kogarah councillors declined to participate, stating indignantly that the aldermen would 'look ridiculous' on bicycles. In contrast, Rockdale Alderman Norman Guess considered that 'Aldermen were definite drawcards in such events as had been proved in recent local carnivals.' ²⁰³ ²⁰⁴

After the Alderman's Bicycle Race at Hurstville Oval, Peter dropped himself into hot water at the next council meeting, when he

mischievously declared that Hurstville's parks and the public square at Hurstville Station were more beautiful than Rockdale's beaches and parkland and therefore council should increase its expenditure in this regard. This prompted vigorous discussion in the chambers. Mayor Beehag indignantly pointed out that they had spent £100,000 on parks in the last six years and that it took time for the plants to mature. In a decade, he declared, Scarborough, Arncliffe, Gardiner and Barton Parks would be in wonderful bloom.

Peter was actively involved in promoting the interests of water sports associations and served on the committee of a swimming club. His disparaging remarks were clearly calculated to increase the likelihood of the council voting agreement with the next item on the council meeting agenda; a proposal by Brighton Lifesaving Club to create terraced gardens and a concrete footpath beside the club premises. The ploy was successful. The councillors voted to fund improvements to the area and to instruct its engineer to prepare a plan on beautifying the beach near the club promises.²⁰⁵

Later that month Peter was voted to represent the council yet again for the Aldermanic Race at Oatley District Amateur Swimming Club in the 50yard scratch race for St George District Aldermen. It was a busy month for swimming events, as Rockdale Council nominated Aldermen Depena, Barton and Powell as its team in the annual aldermen's relay swimming race to be held by Enfield Council at the Enfield Olympic Swimming Pool on 11 March.^{206 207}

In common with his brother Dave, Peter loved the sport of kings, and was fond of laying a bet or two on the horses. His son Neville would recount how his father would frequently come home from the races and toss a pile of cash on the bed, telling his sons to count the money. ²⁰⁸

Peter retired from active sports, but never gave up his fighting spirit. As a builder, he was no stranger to wielding an axe, and took on the challenge of tree felling in 1936 at the age of 46. He threw down the gauntlet to champion axeman, and local butcher, Casey Clissold, at a contest in Hurstville.²⁰⁹



Landscaping works in progress in 1937 to create terraced gardens around the Brighton Lifesaving Club building, following Peter's provocative claim that Hurstville had better parks and gardens. Photo: Bayside Council Library

Peter the Freemason

Many businessmen find it helpful to establish a network of contacts through Masonic lodges. Peter's father was a life member of Bishop Ridley Lodge No. 259 at Kogarah, so it was only natural that the son joined the same masonic order, rising through the offices to the position of Worshipful Master in 1920. This Protestant Orange Lodge was formed in 1902 by James Robinson, building its membership to around 65 members by 1920, and flourishing until the late 1920s, when its membership age declined. Consequently, they took the unusual step of holding lunch meetings, but eventually it dissolved. ²¹⁰ ²¹¹



Masonic symbol Graphic: Pixabay²¹²

The objects of Orangeism were to 'maintain the Protestant religion, and promote its principles throughout every part of the Empire' The lodge met monthly on a Wednesday evening, originally in the Oddfellows Hall in Bryant Street Rockdale, and later in the

Rechabite Hall in Ocean Street, Kogarah. They enjoyed social activities as well as formal ceremonial meetings and sometimes visited or hosted visitors from similar Irish Protestant lodges in the region. There was a serious divide and distrust between many Protestants and Catholics in Australian society throughout the first half of the twentieth century, often fuelled by passionate sentiment from Orange Lodges and arguments over State versus Catholic school education. This even extended to an annual celebration by Australian Orange Lodges of 'The Twelfth', or Orangemen's Day, an Irish Protestant tradition held on July 12 to celebrate the 'Glorious Revolution' (1688) and the victory of Protestant king William of Orange over Catholic king James II at the 'Battle of the Boyne' (1690). ²¹³ ²¹⁴ ²¹⁵

Peter joined a second Protestant Alliance lodge in mid-1921, Sans Souci No. 181, although continuing his association with Bishop Ridley No. 259 until early 1923. The new gathering was formed with 30 members, which rapidly rose to around 80, meeting monthly on Thursdays at Gillons Hall, Ramsgate. This lodge continued until the late 1930s. ²¹⁶

Never one to be a passive member, Peter held several positions including Treasurer and Secretary. He also led the Social Committee, organising a variety of fun fund-raising events and parties. He loved to participate in Christmas picnics and sports days, and he was not shy to play a role in a comedic court trial and a mock wedding.

Fun was a simple affair in those days, with adults and children alike enjoying traditional races at these social outings; the egg and spoon race where participants ran the field while delicately balancing a raw egg on a spoon, the sack race in which competitors hopped inside a burlap sack, the three-legged race with two people hobbling side by side with their inside legs tied together, and the obstacle race where runners wove around a variety of objects placed along the course. Then there was the potato race in which eight potatoes were placed two metres apart along a straight line, which the winner collected in a basket, before crossing the finish line, five or ten metres farther on. For the more indulgent there was the bun-eating competition, where buns dangling on a string were consumed without touching them with the hands. ²¹⁷

They also played the picturesquely named Cleaving the Turks Head, a favourite 19th century military game designed to demonstrate cavalry skills, and sometimes known as 'Post Practice'. This game should not be

misconstrued as racial discrimination. Peter's picnic races were staged only a few years after the Anzacs had fought the Turks at Gallipoli, and moreover, the Habsburgs had combatted the Ottoman empire in Europe throughout the 16th to 18th centuries. A block of softwood pine timber, fashioned roughly in the shape of a head, was mounted on a slender post. Competitors galloped past on horseback, attacking it with a sword thrust or cut, attempting to 'decapitate' the Turk. While it may seem unlikely that the game at the Depena's house could involve horse-riding, it should be remembered that there was ample room for equestrian sports, as the property was 61 metres long and many people in the area owned horses. ²¹⁸ 219

The whole family threw themselves into the spirit of fun at the picnic events, with gifted orator Peter engaging the kids with storytelling, little Peter Joffre and Neville winning prizes in the race events and his wife Lillian entering the nail-driving competition. She was quite successful in this event, no doubt coached by her husband, who was a renowned master builder and carpenter.²²⁰



Alderman Simon Peter Depena Photo: Bayside Council Library

Politics

Peter's desire to help his fellow man resulted in friends pressing him to stand for election for Scarborough Ward in Rockdale as an independent candidate in the council elections of 1925, when he was a disappointing seven votes short of winning, pipped at the post by George Barton, who would later become Mayor of Rockdale. The result was so close that he felt success was in reach and he was encouraged to try again in 1928.²²¹



1928 Election advertising, Photo from St George Call 1928 222

His key election campaign issues related to ensuring a healthy lifestyle for his constituents. Peter saw the need to press on with the drainage of the swampy areas around the bay, which were believed to lead to health issues. He was also keen to build infrastructure in the bay area, particularly the installation of sewerage treatment works. This time he was successful, and Peter's name appears regularly in Rockdale Council Minutes as either the proposer or seconder of numerous motions relating to infrastructure improvements, including public transport, street lighting, road surfacing, kerbing and guttering, public amenities blocks, footpaths and tree planting. He was a reliable alderman who rarely missed a meeting and represented the Rockdale council as their delegate to the Local Government Association of NSW.²²³

He maintained an open-door policy, preferring that matters be aired in public at the Council Chamber rather than behind closed doors in committee, and frequently addressed local issues in letters to the St George Call newspaper editor. ^{224 225}

Around 1931 a unanimous vote of the council recommended him as a Justice of the Peace. He was no stranger to legal matters, having served as a juror in the Sydney Quarter Sessions for 14 years. ²²⁶



Rockdale Council Meeting circa 1930, Peter Depena is seated front row on the right Photo: Bayside Council Library

Campaigning for modern transport

Transport from Kogarah to Sans Souci had been provided by a steam driven tram for many years. The tram was considered a safety risk and was running at a £16,000 loss per annum. Residents were alarmed In April 1926, when a steam tram derailed and crashed into an electric light pole while travelling between Kogarah and Sans Souci, killing the tram driver.



Kogarah to Sans Souci steam tram accident 1926 Photo: Bayside Council Library

The route ran from Kogarah Station along Montgomery Street to Rocky Point Road, turning left down Russell Avenue in Sans Souci past Peter Depena's house, then a right-hand turn into Clareville Avenue and continuing along the shoreline to meet Fraters Avenue near the Rocky Point Punt, which operated a service to Taren Point from 1916 until the Captain Cook Bridge opened in 1965 at a cost of £1.6 million. The tram line then looped around to re-join Rocky Point Road. Aldermen and businessmen from both Kogarah and Rockdale Councils campaigned for electrification of the line, desiring to link it with the existing Brighton to Rockdale electric tram, which would improve the service and bring economic development to the area. Peter was Honourable Chairman of the Tramway Defence Movement.²²⁷²²⁸

A 'monster' rally was staged at Ramsgate Picture Show 31 May 1929, attended by Rockdale Mayor E.G. Barton, Kogarah Mayor W. Whitfield, politicians, bankers and 1,300 citizens. Peter Depena spoke vehemently to great applause, calling for electronification of the line. They presented a 3,300-signature petition to the Minister for Railways and State Treasurer, Mr Stevens, on 6 June 1929. ^{229 230 231}



Trolley bus at the corner of Russell Avenue and Rocky Point Road, 1950 Photo: Bayside Council Library
Peter subsequently fought long and hard for electrification of the Kogarah-Sans Souci tram line for eight years. He saw the potential for improved transport to promote housing construction on this valuable land. People would be reluctant to purchase property unless there were good transport options. The area was becoming more desirable for development as the swamps between Scarborough Park and Moorfield Racecourse were in the process of being drained and sewerage lines gradually spread through the suburbs. He envisaged that electrification would encourage tourism on the bay, enabling people to access the beaches for recreational swimming. In 1936, he was advised by Mr Maddocks from the Transport Department that electric trolley buses would be a more suitable alternative. They were perceived as much faster, cleaner, more comfortable, noiseless and significantly easier to travel in than both the steam and electric trams. Although Peter had favoured electric trams as the solution to their problem, he was willing to listen to advice, and the council members subsequently voted unanimously to accept Maddocks' proposal. 232 233 234 235

In 1937 Peter proposed to utilise the improvements to local transport to create a tourist route from Central Station to encourage day-trippers to travel by modern electric train to Kogarah, take the electric trolley bus to Ramsgate to swim at the baths, returning to Central via double decker bus. ²³⁶

Even more exciting was the proposal by the Dolls Point Ratepayers Association, of which Peter was a member, to promote Botany Bay and Dolls Point as the site for the new Sea Plane Base. Imperial Airways proposed a scheme for a sea plane service on the London-Sydney route. A 'Battle of the Bays' ensued, with Rose Bay, Pittwater, Botany Bay, Lake Illawarra, Lake Macquarie and Pindimar Bay in Port Stephens in competition.²³⁷ Peter and his fellow aldermen enthusiastically took up the idea, which would have brought considerable economic advantage to Rockdale, but after consideration by the government and the airline of the relative merits of each site, Botany Bay lost out to Rose Bay. The service from Rose Bay to the UK commenced in July 1938. It was a first-class airfare, costing twice the annual wage of an average Australian worker, and the passengers endured a gruelling 10-day, 30 stop journey. ²³⁸ ²³⁹



Peter Depena stands out in the crowd at the opening of Rocky Point Road, the first concrete highway in the municipality, 1 January 1930. Photo: State Archives and Records NSW ²⁴⁰

Administration enquiry

Peter was an inherently honest and conscientious person, leading by example. He expected that council officers behave with due diligence and probity and was not afraid to act to ensure public money was used effectively and efficiently.

There were several shortfalls in the day's takings in 1931, which the Town Clerk, Mr. P. Somerville, could not effectively explain. As the council's chief administrator, it was his responsibility to ensure that the council's financial transactions were accurately recorded. Peter pushed several times for an investigation into the incidents. The council finally commissioned Mr Truman to report into the conduct of the Town Clerk's department. The 1933 Truman Report alleged that the Town Clerk had been incompetent and neglectful of his duties. The bookkeeping staff in the Town Clerk's department had become sloppy. The paperwork was slipping into arears, including the Contracts Register, which had been lost. Some accounting entries had not been updated for more than 18 months.

Somerville blamed the problems on the recently deceased accountant, and his ex-colleague the Deputy Town-Clerk. Peter proposed a motion to immediately suspend Somerville, arguing that although it was painful, they could not afford to be sentimental and must do their duty. Some of the councillors considered this unjust, favouring giving the Town Clerk more time to respond to the accusations. He was subsequently given 14 days to prepare his case.

In fact, the auditors had spotted the problems two years previously, and had made numerous reports and recommendations to the council, many of which the Town Clerk had neglected to pass on to the Mayor. In other instances, council minutes showed that the recommendations which had been discussed in council chambers had been brushed aside. The audit accountants were angry that the Mayor had commissioned the Truman Report without consulting their company, and then had the audacity to sack them. They were hardly to blame, as they had recommended as early as 1932 that the costing system was ineffective, a new filing system was needed, outstanding rates were accruing, debtors should be prosecuted, and a strong room should be constructed. These corrective measures had been ignored.

The Mayor refuted the auditor's rebuttal as 'evasive' and 'side-stepping the real issues'. Whatever the rights and wrongs of the issue, the council subsequently appointed new auditors and a new Town Clerk, and Peter Depena was satisfied that the ratepayer's interests had been attended to. 241 242 243



Rockdale Town Hall circa 1935 Photo: Bayside Council Library

A healthy agenda

Health was also on his agenda. Peter Depena campaigned vigorously for the creation of Scarborough Park, which for decades had been referred to as "That Swamp". Today we might consider a wetland an important ecological zone, but in that era, draining the swampland was judged to be a major health issue rather than an environmental one. The new 50-acre recreation area featured cricket pitches, an artificial lake and picnic grounds. The community celebrated its official opening by Mayor Ernest George Barton in 1934 with a picnic, children's and women's running races, novelty races and model yacht racing.²⁴⁴

He also worked for the extension of sewerage to the Scarborough Ward, which reached 50% of households in the area by 1934.²⁴⁵

Diphtheria was on the rise in 1937, but had been effectively combatted in Queensland with a government funded campaign. Peter proposed inviting the Director General of Public Health to address the council on the implementation of the Diphtheria Immunisation Scheme. He considered it vital that Rockdale Council actively support the government imitative to immunise all schoolchildren in NSW. The Director General was unavailable, but Dr. Grahame Drew, Metropolitan Medical Health Officer, was deputised to address the eager council the following month. The council were persuaded by the doctor's arguments and subsequently introduced the immunisation program. ²⁴⁶ ²⁴⁷



"That Swamp", Scarborough Park 1891 Photo: Bayside Council Library

A run- in with the police

Peter was a great orator who expressed himself with eloquence and a colourful turn of phrase. On one occasion, after countering the objections of an alderman to a council motion, Peter observed that the alderman in question had "shut up like a George's River oyster" after the interjection.²⁴⁸

He was never shy to put forth an opinion in council chambers. In a particularly rowdy council meeting, he once accused another alderman of being a 'windbag', to which the councillor retorted disparagingly that Peter had spoken on 45 of the 50 pieces of correspondence discussed that evening.²⁴⁹

The council chamber was an excellent place to practice his debating skills. In 1936 the Rockdale Police Debating Society challenged the Rockdale aldermen to a charity debate in the Town Hall and Peter was nominated as one of the team. At the time, his relationship with the police was most cordial. Peter declared that Tom Kinkead was "the best 'copper' New South Wales ever possessed." ²⁵⁰

Despite this, he was not immune to saying the wrong thing at the wrong time and occasionally his relationship with the police was strained. In April 1937, he experienced a few problems with some injudicious words spoken at a council meeting, that were reported in the press. Kogarah council was concerned about vandalism and anti-social behaviour and wanted more police protection. To bolster their case, they asked Rockdale to stand with them in their approach to Chief Secretary Chaffey. Peter did not support the appointment of more police to the area, as he considered it would increase tension between the constabulary and the populace. The newspaper quoted him as saying 'More police in the district only make people more bitter towards them'. He further accused the police of ' bullyragging' or intimidation. Perhaps his dark complexion had excited some racial discrimination by individual officers in the force, although this was never claimed. However, this could be a reasonable interpretation of events, as he did say that it wasn't until he had clarified his name and position as an alderman that the police finally treated him with respect.

No-one asked whether the police officers had behaved ethically. Instead, the police took offence at his remarks and deployed the Chief Inspector and two other senior officers to visit the alderman. One might construe this official visit as another form of bullyragging. In politics, the truth sometimes becomes irrelevant and peace must be preserved through diplomacy, in order to maintain effective relationships. Peter was forced to back-track at the next council meeting. He apologised, declaring that any opinions he had expressed were personal and he was making general remarks rather than accusing individual officers of indiscretion. The other aldermen accepted his apology but disagreed with his stance and voted to co-operate with Kogarah. ²⁵¹ ²⁵² ²⁵³



Police Box on Grand Parade, Brightonle-Sands.

Photo: Bayside Council Library

On the campaign trail



In 1934 Peter was engaged in campaigning for the forthcoming council elections with fellow builder and Mayor Ernest George Barton, and Alderman Patrick Joseph Quinane, promoting the slogan 'For continuous progress, unity and experience to serve'. During this period, he must have been somewhat stressed when his wife became ill and was taken to hospital, but she swiftly recovered. His colleague Quinane was unsuccessful in his bid for council, but the Mayor and Peter easily won the election. Alderman Barton received the second highest number of votes with 1615, and Peter came a comfortable third with 1412 votes. ²⁵⁴ 255 Rockdale Council Aldermen 1928-1931 Peter Depena is pictured on the left in the second row. Photo: Bayside Council Library

During the 1937 election campaign he promoted himself as 'Dependable Depena', citing a list of achievements in Scarborough Ward including; introduction of the long-fought-for electric trolleybus service from Sans Souci to Rockdale, construction of Beach Drive along the Bay from Brighton -le-Sands to Ramsgate, construction of a concrete road from Ramsgate to Sans Souci, sewerage connections to 65 per cent of the Ward, reclamation of Scarborough Park from swampland, and a successful Inquiry into Town Hall administration practices. ²⁵⁶

The St George Call reported in December 1937;

'The Scarborough Ward for Rockdale is also attracting attention between two opposing factions, and one sitting alderman for the past nine years, "Dependable Depena," is again seeking reelection. Peter has resided in the district for the past 48 years and takes the keenest interest in all progressive movements for the Sans Souci end of the district.' ²⁵⁷

The election was later tantalisingly described as 'one of the liveliest elections ever held in Rockdale', although the account gives no details as to why this was so.²⁵⁹

Prior to the election, the Mayor presented his Triennial Report at the final council meeting of their tenure, sounding a positive note. The report showed that in the last three year of Peter's service as an alderman, the council had achieved major infrastructure improvements including construction of more than 20 miles of asphalt road, 4 miles of ballasted

road, 19 miles of footpaths, extensive kerbing and guttering, the planting of thousands of trees, the establishment of a council-run tree nursery at Scarborough Park, approval of construction for hundreds of new businesses and dwellings, implementation of an Emergency Relief Scheme providing labour opportunities for unemployed men, and comprehensive drainage works to relieve flooding and dry out the remaining swamp areas. Additionally, they had set up school immunisation clinics, offering diphtheria shots to the children of both paying parents and those who could not afford the Board of Health fees.

The Mayor lauded the progressive nature of the council's endeavours, making the area seem quite idyllic;

'When we examine the progress made during the last three years we find that in most aspects we have emerged from the influences of the depression period, and that we have made even greater progress than in the past. As an illustration, we find that the building figures are exceeding those of the book years just prior to the depression, and that the people are realising the advantages we have to offer from the residential point of view. Our seven miles of beautiful beachfront, 500 acres of Park and Recreation area, close proximity to the city, abundance of good building land and comparatively low rate and other features are attracting both speculative and home builders at such a rate that the time is not far distant when our Municipality will be as populous as many of those that now enjoy the reputation of key popular residential parts of the metropolis.

The aldermen of the period need no fear that their gratuitous services in the public interest have been unattended by results which should meet the approval of the ratepayer. I feel sure that they will join me in reflecting on a period which might well occupy a high place in the history of development of the municipality.' *Mayor Fred W. Beehag*²⁶⁰

The Mayor could not have been more wrong in regard to Peter Depena, for whom the election result must have been bitterly disappointing. Seven men contested the Rockdale Council election for Scarborough Ward on 4 December 1937. The three newly elected aldermen for the ward received between 1567 and 1521 votes. Peter, who three years previously had come third in the political race, had clearly lost the confidence of the people. He came last, receiving less than half that number, with a humiliating 896 votes. His civic career was over. ²⁶¹

It is not clear why he was rejected. Perhaps people were weary of the Depression years and wanted a breath of fresh air. In any case, change was in the air around the world. Change was also afoot for the Depena family on a more personal scale.



Spreading bitumen on a road in Rockdale, date unknown. Twenty miles of road were asphalted in Peter's final term.

Photo: Bayside Council Library

Winds of change

Although Peter retained his business enterprises, life would have taken a distinct change of direction with the loss of his aldermanic duties. He would have missed the monthly council meetings with its vigorous debate and influence over important local issues. He remained a respected businessman, Master Builder, sportsman and Mason, but the loss of status as an alderman would have been a blow.

Peter owned several houses in the Sans Souci, Ramsgate area. In the January following the elections, Peter decided to sell his home at 156 Russell Avenue, Doll's Point. Sana Souci. It is described as 'A OOOD HOME OR INVESTMENT. Two-storey House, nine rooms, and conveniences. 120ft frontage, 200ft deep. Grass tennis court. £1250. ²⁶²



Advertisement appearing in the Sydney Morning Herald 1938

In March 1939, he advertised a second property in Ramsgate, comprising a six- room residence, shop, garage and workshop. It's possible this was the 1130 Rocky Point Road house, but if so, it did not sell. Number 1130 was leased to a tenant, Alfred Morris, for four years from 1940, and retained by the Depenas until at least 1954. ^{263 264} Clearly the Russell Avenue property at number 156 did not sell as soon as Peter expected. His sons Laurie David and Neville Frederick are listed on the 1943 electoral roll as residing there, while Peter and Lillian moved to a rental property at 177 Russell Avenue, until the owner made a court application to eject the tenants in April 1944. ^{265 266}

BRICK COTTAGE, 6 rooms, 30 x 10, glassed verandah, all handy conveniences, corner block, nom for 20 feet shop, right at Ramsgate section, orkshop, and garage. Inspection invited. Particulars. PETER DEPENA, Ramsgate.

Property advertisement appearing in the Sydney Morning Herald 1939

The Depression was behind them and perhaps the family felt better times were ahead, but war reared its ugly head. Laurie David took up boxing in 1938, but it was a brief career. Like so many young men before them, Peter's sons were eager to fight for their country. When World War 2 was declared, Laurie David enlisted in service at the Arncliffe enlistment centre, stating a birthdate of 31 March 1919. Younger brother Neville Frederick was underage, bur stirred with the fires of adventure. He declared his birthdate as 7 June 1919, although in reality, his birthday was in 1918. Obviously two brothers could not have been born 3 months apart. If their subterfuge was to be successful he could not enlist at the same depot as his older sibling, so he enrolled at Paddington Barracks. ²⁶⁷

One can only imagine the scene at home when they announced the news to their parents. Peter and Lillian must have worried incessantly with two sons going to war. They would have been comforted that their youngest son Raymond George was only ten years old and remained at home, while eldest son 24-year-old Peter Joffre, who had recently completed his electrical apprenticeship, did not sign up.

Both brothers survived the war. Laurie married his wartime bride Jean Boyce in Newtown in 1940. They lived for some years around the corner from his parents' house, at 7 Malua Street, Dolls Point, later moving to 11 Primrose Avenue, Sans Souci. He was employed as a storeman packer until the mid-1950s, then commenced trading cars in the sixties. The family moved to Tweed Heads, opening a car dealership in the 1980s. Laurie David passed away 24 October 2005 at the age of 86. ^{270 271}

Neville Frederick married Betty Phyllis Tatham in 1955, and they moved to Port Hacking Road, Caringbah. He was a skilled tradesman, following in his father's footsteps, working as a carpenter. The family lived in a garage on the site for 16 years while he built the family home. Betty suffered a fatal, massive heart attack in 1995 and Neville died in 2009. ^{272 273}

Peter and Lillian's youngest son Raymond George became a carpenter like his esteemed father, although later he diversified into aluminium work. He married machinist Grace Cavan-Love in 1960, and lived near his parents at 39 Russell Avenue, Dolls Point. Grace died in 2007, while Raymond died two years later, a mere seven weeks before his brother Neville. ^{274 275 276}

Peter Joffre, their first-born son, pursued a career as an electrician and moved to Empress Street, Hurstville in the 1940s when he married Annie Scott Lamb Gibson. He died in 1967, aged 52, a brief three years after his father. His wife passed away in 1996. Annie and Peter Joffre's ashes were both placed in the Woronora Cemetery Rose Garden.^{277 278}

Post- war, Peter and Lillian relocated at the end of the decade to their original property in 1130 Rocky Point Road, where Lillian's father resided with them briefly before his death in 1954. Still, they must have been fond of the beautiful tree-lined Russell Avenue. After his father-in-law's death, Peter purchased another Russell Avenue property at lot 23, number 126. The family had grown up, married and moved on. Peter and Lillian downsized to a more modest affair than their previous property at number 156, although Lot 23 was three times the size of their old property, at 408' x 190' (124 m x 57 m). Their new home was a red-clay-tile roofed, double fronted fibro cottage with four rooms, kitchen and offices. The double garage and laundry had corrugated fibro roofs. The property was valued at £6,500 in 1964. Today the area has been completely consumed by mediocre seventies and eighties unit blocks. No evidence remains of their original elegant family home or the later purchases.²⁷⁹



Photo from The Sun 9 September 1934

Death

Peter had arteriosclerosis, or thickening of the arteries. It is unknown whether he was aware that he also had an abdominal aneurysm. Aneurysms can develop and grow for many years without causing any signs or symptoms, until the final catastrophic moment when they rupture. When it ruptured on 6 January 1964, he would most likely have felt a sudden, severe pain in his lower abdomen and back, coupled with nausea, vomiting and constipation. He would have become light headed and his skin would have felt sweaty and clammy. The internal bleeding would have led to shock, where his blood his pressure dropped so low that his vital organs could not get enough blood to work efficiently. He was taken to St. George Hospital Kogarah, where he died twelve hours later at the age of 74.^{280 281}



Peter Depena Memorial Plaque, Woronora Cemetery Rose Garden. Inscribed 'In loving memory of a dear husband and father Simon P. Depena. Died 6th Jan 1964. Aged 74 years.' Photo: Leonie Bell

He was survived by his wife, and sons Peter Joffre, Neville Fredrick. Laurie David and Raymond George.

His widow survived another 25 years. When Lillian suffered from senility in her latter years, her son Neville took her into his home. There were numerous minor incidents indicating the onset of this insidious disease. On one occasion Lillian appeared in the lounge room doorway, inexplicably holding a saucepan of water, asking the assembled family, "Are you ready?" although she didn't quite know what they should be ready for. Soon after that it was decided that she needed the care of a nursing home. She died at the age of 89 on 30 January 1986. ²⁸²

An Anglican funeral service was held for Peter, and his ashes are buried in the Woronora Cemetery Rose Garden, together with his wife's ashes. For such a prominent man, his memorial is a modest 8 cm aluminium plaque, mounted on a light brown stone, huddled amongst hundreds of similar plaques beneath the blooming rose bushes. It seems such an insignificant memorial for a man who achieved so much in life. It is therefore fitting that an expansive park should also bear his name, in the suburb where he laboured so long for the common good of all its residents. ²⁸³ ²⁸⁴



'Sunset', from "Four Times of the Day", panorama on Depena Reserve amenities block, designed by Steven Vella, 2008. Photo: Leonie Bell

Conclusion

During his lifetime, Peter Depena was an inspiration to those around him. He showed that vigorous campaigning for improvements to the local town or suburb can reap far-reaching benefits for all citizens. He participated in life to the full, demonstrating generosity of spirit. Peter was an enthusiastic example of the benefits of volunteering in local organisations; benefits both to oneself and to the wider community. One of his constituents claimed that,

> 'Alderman Depena is certainly the first male child to be born in Ramsgate and I will go one further, he will be amongst the last to die as far as memory is concerned.'

And yet, it would seem that memory of his achievements has faded with time. It would be a shame for Rockdale residents to lose sight of his shining example.²⁸⁵

Understanding the achievements of our past can lead to greater understanding of who we are as citizens, and our place in the world today, both on a local scale and as Australians. Altruistic citizens like Peter Depena can continue to inspire us in the modern world and we should strive to maintain their memory.

The signage in Depena Reserve, memorialising Peter Depena, was removed due to its extreme dilapidation. Bayside Council is currently reviewing its signage strategy in view of the September 2016 amalgamation of Rockdale and Botany Councils. ²⁸⁶

It would be edifying to erect signage at sites that are named for local heroes, to explain their achievements and role in society and why the building or park is so named. It can only be hoped that the Depena Reserve signage will be restored and in future when Bayside Council renames a park or reserve, or creates a new public recreation area, there will be a well-documented background story and on-site signage recording the citizen's good works. Only in this way will their memory and deeds be preserved for future generations, inspiring others to follow their selfless examples of community service.



'Dawn', from "Four Times of the Day", panorama on Depena Reserve amenities block, designed by Steven Vella, 2008 Photo: Leonie Bell

Appendix 1

Depena Family Tree



Tree graphic created by Leonie Bell

Acknowledgments

My thanks to Kirsten Broderick, Local History Services Specialist, from Rockdale Local History Library, for her assistance in locating archival material held by Bayside Council Library.

I would also like to thank Peter's grandson Mark De Pena and his sister Coral their generous assistance in providing family photos.



'Night' from "Four Times of the Day", panorama on Depena Reserve amenities block, designed by Steven Vella, 2008 Photo: Leonie Bell

Bibliography

1881 England census, Westmoreland, Scalthwaiterigg District 10

A BOLD SYMBOL OF NATION'S PROGRESS': SYDNEY'S CAPTAIN COOK BRIDGE MARKS 50 YEARS, *The Daily Telegraph*, O'Rourke, Jim, 28 May 2015

A WONDERFUL DAD, The St George Call, 19 May 1933, p. 2.

ADVERTISING, *The St George Call*, 18 April 1914, p.7; 10 May 1919; 16 December 1921 p1; 28 September 1923, p.6; 30 November 1928, p. 5; 30 November 1934, p. 2; 3 December 1937, p.2.

ADVERTISING, *Sydney Morning Herald*, 18 March 1918; 22 January 1938, p. 30, column 3; 23 July 1952, p. 12; 18 March 1939, p.31, column 5

ALDERMAN WHO TRIUMPHED OVER COLOR PREJUDICES, *The Mail Adelaide*, 15 September 1934, p. 11.

ALDERMAN PETER DEPENA, The St George Call, 7 December 1928, p. 2.

ALDERMEN ON THE EVE, The St George Call, 7 February 1936, p. 6.

ALDERMEN SWIMMERS, The St George Call, 26 February 1937, p. 1.

"ALDIES" IN THE SWIM, The St George Call, 28 February 1936, p. 1.

ALD. PETER DEPENA, The St George Call, 18 January 1929, p. 5.

ALD. PETER DEPENA and ALF POLLDORE ON THEIR WAY TO W.A., *The St George Call*, 4 January 1929, p. 4.

ALD. PETER DEPENA'S BIRTHDAY, The St George Call, 5 July 1929, p. 5.

ALLEGED ASSAULT, The Sydney Morning Herald, 13 November 1925, p. 13.

AMATEUR BOXING, The St George Call, 16 April 1910, p. 4.

ARRIVAL OF THE PORT PIRIE WITH GOVERNMENT IMMIGRANTS, *The Sydney Morning Herald*, September 18, 1886, p. 10.

ATHLETIC ALDERMEN, The St George Call, 10 January 1936, p. 6.

AUDITORS ATTACK ALDERMEN, The St George Call, 1 December 1933, p.1.

Australian and New South Wales Electoral Rolls 1903-1986

AUSTRALIAN RULES, The St George Call, 6 July 1907, p. 6.

Australian Tuckpointing and Repointing, http://www.australiatuckpointing.com.au/faqs/

AUSTRALIA'S 'LUNATIC ASYLUM' HORRORS: 'IT WAS ONE FLEW OVER THE CUCKOO'S NEST IN REALITY', *www.News.Com.Au*.

ABORIGINAL SERVICE DURING THE FIRST WORLD WAR, Australian War Memorial, https://www.awm.gov.au/1914-1918/indigenous-service/

AXEMEN'S CORNER, Referee, 17 December 1936, p. 16.

BEST "COP" IN N.S.W. The St George Call, 24 April 1936, p. 1.

BICYCLE BULLETIN, The St George Call, 21 November 1908, p. 5.

BIG DRAW CARDS, *The Sydney Morning Herald*, 9 March 1937, p. 11.

BILLIARDS, The St George Call, 18 October 1935, p. 5; 27 September 1935, p. 2.

Birth Certificate, Simon Peter Depena, New South Wales Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, index no. 7077/1889

BISHOP RIDLEY, No. 269 (KOGARAH), *Watchman*, 16 December 1920, p. 8. & 21 September 1922, p.8.

BLUE WILLIAM BILLY (1767-1834), Margaret Park, Australian Dictionary of Biography

BOTANY WEST, Atlas of the suburbs of Sydney ca. 1885-1890

BOXER IN BATHURST, The Bathurst Times, 28 December 1912, p. 2.

BOXING, Daily Standard Brisbane, 1 October 1914, p. 7

BOXING, South Coast Times and Wollongong Argus, 10 January 1913, p. 12.

BOXING, The St George Call, 15 June 1912, p. 7.

BOXING, *The Sydney Morning Herald*, 11 August 1938, p. 16.

BOXING, Townsville Daily Bulletin, 4 July 1913, p. 7.

BOXING BITS, The St George Call, 16 November 1912, p. 4.

BOXING, Nepean Times, 26 January 1956, p. 7.

BRIGHTON-LE-SANDS, Australia for everyone, from, http://www.visitsydneyaustralia.com.au/brighton-le-sands.html

BULLYRAGGING, *The Armidale Express and New England General Advertiser*, 2 April 1937, p. 1.

BULLY RAGGING POLICE, The St George Call, 9 April 1937, p. 1.

BURGLARY AT RAMSGATE, The St George Call, 9 January 1925, p. 2.

CABO VERDE, *Encyclopaedia Britannica*, Shaw, Bannerman & Lobban, https://www.britannica.com/place/Cabo-Verde

CELEBRATIONS AT KOGARAH, Watchman, 17 February 1920, p. 4.

CONGRATULATIONS! The St George Call, 22 June 1934, p. 2.

COOK PARK, The St George Call, 23 May 1930. p. 2 & 31 May 1930, p.2.

COOK PARK WORKING BEE, The St George Call, 9 May 1930, p. 5.

CUM. INTEREST, The Sun, Sydney, 27 July 1925, p. 9.

CYCLING, The Australian Star, 13 November 1908, p. 5.

DAVE DEPENA, The St George Call, 14 October 1911, p. 7.

Death Certificate, Anselm de Pena, NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, Index no. 1933/05410 *Death Certificate, Simon Peter Depena,* NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, Index no. 1964/14190

DEPENA v. BARRETT, Barrier Miner, 6 January 1913, p. 2.

DROWNINGS-AND-UNEXPLAINED-DEATHS-NAIL-PULLING-AND-SEXUAL-ABUSE-WELCOME-TO-THE-DARK-AND-SAD-99YEAR-HISTORY-OF-THE-CREEPY-PEAT-ISLAND *Daily Telegraph,* 30 October 2014

EMPLOYEES' PICNIC, The St George Call, 10 September 1926, p. 2.

Evolution of apprenticeships and traineeships in Australia: an unfinished history, p. 14, Brian Knight, NCVER, 2012

EX-BOXER IN COURT, Evening News, Sydney, 23 February 1926, p. 7.

FAMILY NOTICES, *The Sydney Morning Herald*, 31 December 1942, p. 15,31 December 1945, p. 15, May 11 1933, p. 9

FAMILY NOTICES, The St George Call, p. 5.

FETTLER INJURED, The Maitland Daily Mercury, 18 October, 1926, p. 4

FETTLER INJURED, The Newcastle Sun, 16 April 1923, p. 3.

FETTLER KILLED, Glen Innes Examiner, 8 October 1925, p. 8.

FIGHT IN PITT-STREET, The Sun, Sydney, 17 August 1933, p. 2

FOOTBALL, The St George Call, 21 August 1909, p. 5.

FLIES AND MOSQUITOES, The St George Call, 10 November 1910, p. 7.

GEORGES RIVER SAILING CLUB, The St George Call, 21 August 1931, p. 4.

Government Schools of NSW from 1848, New South Wales Department of Education and Communities, http://www.governmentschools.det.nsw.edu.au

Gregory's Street Directory of Sydney & Suburbs 1st edition 1934 commemorative reprint, Gregory's, Sydney, 2006

Hawthorne Street Natural Area signage

HINDUS AT VARIANCE, Daily Herald, Adelaide, 3 August 1917, p. 8.

HISTORY, Cape Verde.com, http://www.capeverde.com/history

History of Westmorland, A Vision of Britain through Time

HOARDING NEAR SCHOOL, The St George Call, 12 March 1937, p.2.

Indexes to deceased estate files; State Archives and Records NSW

INTER-CLUB RACING, Arrow, Sydney, 29 October 1926, p. 16.

JAMES STEPHEN'S DOCTRINE OF A WHITE AUSTRALIA, Ohlsson, Tony, Journal of the Royal Australian Historical Society vol. 102, part 2, December 2016

Kogarah School, Monograph no. 2, J.J. Fletcher, Kogarah Historical Society

KOGARH PUBLIC SCHOOL CARNIVAL. AN INTERESTING EVENT, *Sunday Times, Sydney*, 27 March 1904, p. 6.

KOGARAH-SANS SOUCI TRAM, The St George Call, 31 May 1929, p. 2.

KOGARAH TECHNICAL COLLEGE, The St George Call, 1 June 1923. p. 3.

LETTERS TO THE EDITOR, The St George Call, 5 October 1934, p. 6.

LINKING A NATION: AUSTRALIA'S TRANSPORT AND COMMUNICATIONS 1788 -1970 - CHAPTER 10 MOBILITY CULTURE IN MID-TWENTIETH CENTURY AUSTRALIA, Australian Government Department of Environment and Energy, https://www.environment.gov.au/heritage/ahc/publications/linking-anation/chapter10

LEAGUE FOOTBALL, The St George Call, 12 March 1921, p. 7.

Marriage Certificate, Simon Peter Depena and Lillian Royall, NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriage, Index no. 5964/1914

MAYORAL REPORT AT CLOSE OF TRIENNIAL TERM, Mayor Fred W. Beehag, Rockdale Council Minutes, 15 November 1937, pp. 1852-1865

MILITARY SPORTS, South Australian Weekly Chronicle, 25 September 1886, p. 15.

MR. MADDOCKS ENTHUSIASTIC, *The St George Call*, 23 October 1936, p.1.

MUNICIPAL ELECTIONS, The St George Call, 3 December 1937, p. 2.

NEPTUNE VI. IN THE GOLDEN WEST, The St George Call, 11 January 1911, p. 3.

New South Wales, Australia, Unassisted Immigrant Passenger Lists, 1826-1922

New South Wales, Australia, Government Gazettes, 1853-1899, May-June 1897, page 4525 & May-June 1894, page 4125.

New South Wales, Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages Index

NINDS HEREDITARY SPASTIC PARAPLEGIA INFORMATION PAGE, National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke,

http://www.ninds.nih.gov/disorders/hereditary_spastic_paraplegia/hereditary_s pastic_paraplegia.htm

Oxford Living Dictionaries, https://en.oxforddictionaries.com/definition/memorial

PETER DEPENA FOR SCARBOROUGH, The St George Call, 16 November 1928), p. 6

POPULATION, A Statistical Account of the Seven Colonies of Australasia 1890, Australian Bureau of Statistics

OBITUARY, Nepean Times, 20 August 1927

OBITUARY, The St George Call, 12 May 1933, p. 2.

OPEN-DOOR" POLICY, Evening News, 6 March 1930, p. 5.

PERSONAL, The St George Call, 16 November 1934, p. 2.

PETER DEPENA FOR SCARBOROUGH, The St George Call, 23 November 1928, p. 2.

POTATO RACE, Wikipedia, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Potato_race

PROGRESS AND PETER DEPENA, St George and Sutherland Shire Leader, 13 September 1961, p1.

PROGRESSIVE PROGRESS ASSN. The St George Call, 5 September 1930, p. 2.

PROTESTANT ALLIANCE, *The St George Call*, 4 November 1921, p. 7.

PROTESTANT ALLIANCE FRIENDLY SOCIETY, *The St George Call*, 2 January 1925, p.1.

RAILWAY PICNIC Nepean Times, 9 September 1916;6 November 1906, p3.

RETIRED PUG DEPENA, Truth, Sydney, 28 February 1926, p. 20

QUARTER SESSIONS, The Sydney Morning Herald, 15 December 1925, p.7.

QUARTER SESSIONS, The Sydney Morning Herald, 19 February 1926, p. 7.

Racing NSW, http://www.racingnsw.com.au/default.aspx?s=noticesdisplay&id=20295

RAMSGATE AMATEUR SWIMMING AND LIFE SAVING CLUB, *The St George Call*, 8 October 1926, p. 3.

RAMSGATE BILLIARD TOURNEY, The St George Call, 9 May 1924, p. 4.

RAMSGATE PRESENTATION DANCE, *The St George Call*, 21 September 1923, p. 1.

ROCKDALE ALDERMAN SAVES MATE FROM DEATH, *The St George Call*, 11 September 1936, p. 2.

ROCKDALE BENEVOLENT FUND, The St George Call. 13 June 1930, p. 1.

ROCKDALE COUNCIL AND TOWN CLERK, *The St George Call*, 29 September 1933, p. 2.

Rockdale Council Meeting Minutes, December 1928—December 1937 & August 1961

ROCKDALE MUNICIPAL ELECTIONS, *The St George Call*, 11 December 1925, p. 2. ROCKDALE MUNICIPAL ENQUIRY, *The St George Call*, 27 October 1933, p.6.

ROCKDALE REPORTS, The St George Call, 4 May 1907, p. 4.

ROCKDALE'S BEAUTY, The St George Call, 12 February 1937, p. 1.

ROCKDALE FIREWORKS, The St George Call, 6 March 1931, p. 1.

ROSE BAY AIRPORT, *Dictionary of Sydney*, Hanna, Kim, 2014, http://dictionaryofsydney.org/entry/rose_bay_airport

Ryerson Index, www.ryerson.org.au

SAILING, *The Arrow*, 15 October 1910, p. 7.

Sands Directories 1900-1929

Sans Souci Public School 1885-1985, Publ. Sans Souci Public School, Sydney, 1985

SANS SOUCI SUMMARY, The St George Call, 13 July 1907, p. 5.

SCARBOROUGH L.S. CLUB, The St George Call, 13 September 1935, p. 5.

SCARBOROUGH PARK SPORTS AREA, The St George Call, 30 November 1934, p. 6.

SEAPLANE BASE, *Newcastle Morning Herald and Miners' Advocate,* 17 July 1937, p. 13.

SEQUESTRATION ORDERS, The Sydney Morning Herald, 17 January 1951, p.7.

SNAPS AT SPORTS, Truth, 10 January 1932, p. 7.

SPORT, South Coast Times and Wollongong Argus, 27 December 1912, p. 14 & 3 January 1913, p. 12.

ST. GEORGE BRANCH, *Construction and Local Government Journal*, 5 September 1928, p. 14.

ST. GEORGE CLUB, The Sydney Morning Herald, 7 February 1908, p. 10.

ST. GEORGE JUNIOR FOOTBALL ASSOCIATION, *The St George Call*, 26 February 1910, p. 8.

ST. GEORGE LADIES CRICKET, The St George Call, 12 August 1932, p. 5.

ST. GEORGE SAILING CLUB, The St George Call, 26 August 1921, p. 5.

SUBURBAN MUNICIPALITIES, The Sydney Morning Herald, 6 December 1937, p. 8.

SULLIVAN OUTPOINTS DEPENA, The Sydney Morning Herald, 22 June 1912, p. 18.

SUPERSTITIOUS? The St George Call, 29 August 1930, p. 2.

SYDNEY TECHNICAL COLLEGE, The Sydney Morning Herald, 11 January. p.14

SWIMMING, *The Sydney Morning Herald*, 25 March 1903, p. 10. Retrieved January 11, 2017

TAKE THE LOT: TAX FINES, The Sun, Sydney, 9 November 1939, p. 17

TECHNICAL COLLEGE CLUB, The Sydney Morning Herald, 18 February 1907, p. 11.

The Cape Verdean Diaspora in Portugal, Luis Batalha, publ. Lexington Books, USA 2004

THE GAME OF BLOBS, Bliss in the Burbs, 6 March 2014, http://blissintheburbs-kayly.blogspot.com.au/2014/03/the-games-of-bobs.html

THE MEN WHO BUILD, *Construction and Local Government Journal*, 27 December 1928, p. 15.

THE OLD STEAM TRAM, The St George Call, 19 July 1929, p. 2.

THE RING, *Sydney Sportsman*, 19 June 1912, p. 6. THE SECOND NIGHT, *Sydney Sportsman*, 23 June 1909, p. 6

THE TWELFTH, Wikipedia, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/The_Twelfth

TIPPING COMPETITION, *Tweed Daily, Murwillumbah*, 10 December 1930, p. 4.

TO THE EDITOR, The St George Call, 3 April 1936, p. 2.

TOURNAMENTS AND COMBATIVE EXHIBITIONS IN VICTORIAN ENGLAND, Tony Wolf, August 2001,

http://ejmas.com/jmanly/articles/2001/jmanlyart_wolf2_0801.htm

Tracing African Roots, https://tracingafricanroots.wordpress.com/2015/07/05/cape-verde-slavecensus-of-1856-part-1/

TRIUMPHED OVER HIS COLOR, The Sun, 9 September 1934, p 3

TROLLEY BUS ROUTES TO REPLACE STEAM TRAM, *Construction and Real Estate Journal*, 20 May 1936, p. 6.

Victorian Electoral Rolls 1903-1928

WOOLLEN MILLS, *Industrial History of Cumbria*, http://www.cumbriaindustries.org.uk/woollen-mills/

Women in Colonial Times, http://www.australia.gov.au/aboutaustralia/australian-story/women-in-colonial-times

Unlock the Past, http://www.unlockthepast.com.au

WHAT ARE THE SIGNS AND SYMPTOMS OF AN ANEURYSM? US Department of Health and Human Services, National Institute of Health, https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/health-topics/topics/arm/signs

WHAT WILL THE ARNCLIFFE RECLAMATION SCHEME COST ? (1931, June 19). The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957), p. 2. Retrieved February 13, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232199488

WHY HE REMEMBERED, Tweed Daily, Murwillumbah, 26 July 1923, p. 2.

YACHTING; SUNBEAMS GOOD WIN- EVENTS FOR TOMORROW, Arrow, Sydney, 28 January 1921, p.16.

Index	Depena, Laurie David, 21, 40-42, 44
Apprenticeship, 23, 27 ,41	Neville Frederick, 21, 31, 40-42, 44
Arncliffe Ward, 11	Peter Joffre, 21, 31, 40, 42, 44
Australian Imperial Force, 20	Raymond George, 21, 41-42, 44
Barton, Ernest George, 29, 32, 33, 36, 38	Depena Reserve, i, 2-4, 42-43, 44-45
Brighton Baths, 19	Depression, 22, 39-40
Brighton Lifesaving Club, 29	Dolls Point, 2, 3-4, 10, 21, 36, 34, 41
Brooklyn Hospital, 25	
	Elections, 32, 38
Cape de Verde, 5	
Carpentry, 15, 23, 26	Fettlers, 8-9
Cleaving the Turks Head, 30	Funeral 11, 42
Cook Park 2, 3, 22, 26	
Corwell, Mary, 8	Gaudrey, Marion, 13
Crothers, Frederick J., 9	
	Holt, Thomas, 10
Depena, Agnes Jane, see Smiley, Agnes Jane	Hurstville, 28-29, 41
Depena, Anselm, 5, 8, 10-12, 15, 20, 44	Hyde Park Barracks Immigration Depot, 7
Clarice Leith, 18, 44	
David, 11, 16-17, 21, 44	Immigration Assistance Scheme, 6-7
Irene C., 21, 44	
Lillian Irene. See Royall, Lillian Irene	Kogarah Superior School, 14-15

Kyeemagh, 10, 12, 22	Rocky Point Road, 11, 18-`9, 21, 23, 33-34, 40
	Royall, Frederick Charles, 19, 41, 44
Langford, Sam, 12, 16, 22	Lillian Irene, 19-21, 31, 40-42, 44
	Rockdale Ward, 10
Market Gardens, 12	
Masonic Lodge, 30	Russell Avenue, 3, 21, 26, 33, 40-41
Master Builders Association, 26	St. George Sailing Club, 27-28
McVey, Sam, 12, 22	St. Pauls Church, 8, 20
Moorfield Racecourse, 11, 17, 34	Sans Souci School, 13, 15
Munshi, Bhand Chand Shergill, 18, 44	Sandringham School. See Sans Souci School
Munshi, Clarice. See Depena, Clarice Leith	Scalthwaiterigg, 6
	Scarborough Park, 43, 36, 38-39
Norman Estate, 2	Scarborough Ward, 11, 21, 32, 36, 38-39
	Sea Plane Base, 34
Obituary, 9, 11	Sewerage, 10, 32, 34, 36, 38
Orangeism, 30	Shady Nook Estate, 2
	Smiley, Agnes, 5-12, 18, 20, 44
Park Road, 5, 8, 11, 18, 21, 23	Sarah Jane, 6, 9, 44
Police, 16-17, 37	Thomas, 6-9, 44
Protestant Alliance Lodge, 30	Somerville, P., 35
	S.S. Port Pirie, 6
Racing, 14, 26-31, 36, 38	Strippers Point, 10

Swimming, 11, 14, 19, 27-29, 34

Swimming Club, 14, 27, 29

Sydney Technical College, 15-23, 26-27

Tram, 11, 24, 3334

Transport, 24, 32-34

Triennial Mayoral Report, 38

Trolley bus, 33, 34, 38

Truman Report, 35

Vella, Steven, i, 42-43, 45

White Australia Policy, 12

Wyatt, Montague, 13

Woronora Cemetery, 11, 17-18, 41-42

Notes

¹ Oxford Living Dictionaries [accessed online 21 November 2016] https://en.oxforddictionaries.com/definition/memorial ² COOK PARK (1930, May 23). The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957), p. 2. Retrieved December 1, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.newsarticle232193832 ³ WHAT WILL THE ARNCLIFFE RECLAMATION SCHEME COST ? (1931, June 19). The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957), p. 2. Retrieved February 13, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232199488 ⁴ PROGRESS AND PETER DEPENA, St George and Sutherland Shire Leader, 13 USA 2004 September 1961, p1 ⁵ Rockdale Council Meeting Minutes, 31 August 1961, page 634 ⁶ PETER DEPENA FOR SCARBOROUGH. (1928, November 16). The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957), p. 6. Retrieved November 23, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232075317 Verde ⁷ ALD. PETER DEPENA'S BIRTHDAT. (1929, July 5). *The St George Call (Kogarah,* NSW : 1904 - 1957), p. 5. Retrieved November 23, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232078034 ⁸ ALDERMAN PETER DEPENA. (1928, December 7). The St George Call (Kogarah, *NSW : 1904 - 1957*), p. 2. Retrieved November 22, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232075639 ⁹ NEPTUNE VI. IN THE GOLDEN WEST. (1929, January 11). The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957), p. 3. Retrieved December 1, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232076217 ¹⁰ TRIUMPHED OVER HIS COLOR (1934, September 9). *The Sun (Sydney, NSW :* 1910 - 1954), p. 3 (STUMPS EDITION). Retrieved December 2, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article230313800 ¹¹ Simon Peter Depena Birth Certificate. NSW BDM index no. 7077/1889 ¹² Family Notices (1941, December 31). The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW : 1842 -1954), p. 15. Retrieved November 28, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.newsarticle17781224 ¹³ Anselm de Pena, Death Certificate, NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, Death Index no. 1933/05410

¹⁴ I have been unable to obtain evidence of this claim, although he would have needed to be naturalised in order to own property in Australia.

¹⁵ Wikimedia Commons, Retrieved 1 February 2017, from,

https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Cape_Verde_1746_map.jpg

¹⁶ Anselm de Pena, Death Certificate, NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, Death Index no. 1933/05410

¹⁷ Tracing African Roots, Retrieved 28 January 2017, from,

https://tracingafricanroots.wordpress.com/2015/07/05/cape-verde-slave-census-of-1856-part-1/

¹⁸ The Cape Verdean Diaspora in Portugal, Luis Batalha, publ. Lexington Books, USA 2004

¹⁹ HISTORY, Cape Verde.com, Retrieved 8 December, 2016, from. http://www.capeverde.com/history

²⁰ CABO VERDE, *Encyclopaedia Britannica*, Shaw, Bannerman & Lobban, Retrieved 9 December, 2016, from, https://www.britannica.com/place/Cabo-Verde

²¹ CABO VERDE HISTORY, *Encyclopaedia Britannica*, Shaw, Bannerman & Lobban, Retrieved 9 December, 2016, from, https://www.britannica.com/place/Cabo-Verde/Cultural-life#ref516606

²² Anselm de Pena, Death Certificate, NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, Death Index no. 1933/05410

²³ His route is unknown, although there is a 29-year-old British seaman A. Penna recorded as arriving in Sydney on the ship Lye Ee Moon from Melbourne on 21 November 1882, which may be him. Alternatively, an M Pena from Bravo in the Cape Verde Islands is recorded arriving on a whaling ship in August 1888, aged 32. It is impossible to tell which, if any of these, is Peter's father. *New South Wales, Australia, Unassisted Immigrant Passenger Lists, 1826-1922* [database on-line]. Provo, UT, USA: Ancestry.com Operations, Inc., 2007. Retrieved 11 December 2016, from, www.ancestry.com.au.

²⁴ Interview with Mark De Pena, 22 February 2017

²⁵ 1881 England census, Westmoreland, Scalthwaiterigg District 10, Retrieved 12 December 2016, from, www.ancestry.com.au

²⁶ A Vision of Britain through Time, Retrieved 8 December, 2016, from, http://www.visionofbritain.org.uk/place/17480

²⁷ GB Historical GIS / University of Portsmouth, History of Scalthwaiterigg, in South Lakeland and Westmorland | Map and description, A Vision of Britain through Time. Retrieved 22 December 2016, From,

http://www.visionofbritain.org.uk/place/2840

²⁸ 1881 England census

²⁹ WOOLLEN MILLS, Industrial History of Cumbria, Retrieved 26 December 2016, From, http://www.cumbria-industries.org.uk/woollen-mills/

³⁰ Women in Colonial Times [online source accessed 11 July 2016]

http://www.australia.gov.au/about-australia/australian-story/women-in-colonial-times

³¹ Unlock the Past [online source accessed 11 July 2016]

http://www.unlockthepast.com.au/sites/default/files/Assisted%20&%20bounty%20immigrants.pdf

³² New South Wales, Australia, Unassisted Immigrant Passenger Lists, 1826-1922 [database on-line]. Provo, UT, USA: Ancestry.com Operations, Inc., 2007. Retrieved 9 December, 2016, from, www.ancestry.com.au. Note that they appear in both assisted and unassisted migrant passenger lists, but newspaper reports of the voyage confirm that they were government migrants.

 ³³ ARRIVAL OF THE PORT PIRIE WITH GOVERNMENT IMMIGRANTS. (1886, September 18). *The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW : 1842 - 1954)*, p. 10. Retrieved December 11, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article13640626

³⁴ NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, Marriage Index no. 2488/1888, Anselm De Penas and Agnes Smiley

³⁵ Simon Peter Depena Birth Certificate, NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, Index no. 1889/07077

³⁶ New South Wales, Australia, Government Gazettes, 1853-1899, May-June 1898, Retrieved 28 March 2017, from, ancestry.com.au

³⁷ ROCKDALE REPORTS (1907, May 4). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 4. Retrieved January 11, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article209633533

³⁸ NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, Marriage Index no. 2170/1889
 ³⁹ NSW State Electoral Roll 1930

⁴⁰ Reminiscences of Barbara Bell, 2017

⁴¹ *RAILWAY FETTLER*, Rootschat Forum, Reply #4, Retrieved 23 December 2016, From, http://www.rootschat.com/forum/index.php?topic=487567.0

⁴² PIONEER TELLS OF EARLIER TIMES IN LOWER MOUNTAINS, *Penrith Press*, 5 April 1961. P.22 ⁴³ FETTLER INJURED. (1926, October 18). *The Maitland Daily Mercury (NSW :*

1894 - 1939), p. 4. Retrieved December 25, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article128024558

⁴⁴ FETTLER KILLED. (1925, October 8). *Glen Innes Examiner (NSW : 1908 - 1954)*,

p. 8. Retrieved December 25, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-

article184454810. There are dozens of similar stories from this period which can be found on Trove.

⁴⁵ FETTLER INJURED (1923, April 16). *The Newcastle Sun (NSW : 1918 - 1954)*, p.
3. Retrieved December 25, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article163195231

⁴⁶ New South Wales, Australia, Government Gazettes, 1853-1899, May=June
 1897, page 4525 & May-June 1894, page 4125. Retrieved 23 December 2016,
 From, www.amcestry.com.au

⁴⁷ RAILWAY PICNIC (1909, November 6). *Nepean Times* (Penrith, NSW : 1882 - 1962), p. 3. Retrieved March 1, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article101333958

⁴⁸ RAILWAY PICNIC (1916, September 9). *Nepean Times* (Penrith, NSW : 1882 - 1962), p. 3. Retrieved March 1, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article86146326

⁴⁹ NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, Death Index no. 12312/1942
 ⁵⁰ Indexes to deceased estate files; State Archives and Records NSW; Kingswood, New South Wales, Australia; Archive Series: NRS 13341; Series: A Series (1939-1948); Reel Number: 3286, Retrieved 22 December 2016, from,

www.ancestry.com.au

⁵¹ NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, Death Index no. 751/1930
 ⁵² OBITUARY. (1942, June 18).Nepean Times (Penrith, NSW : 1882 - 1962), p. 1.
 Retrieved February 15, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article117890244
 ⁵³ NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, Marriage Index no. 440/1896.

⁵⁴ Obituary, *Nepean Times*, 20 August 1927

⁵⁵ NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, Death Index no. 12490/1946.
 ⁵⁶ Hawthorne Street Natural Area signage

⁵⁷ THE DOLLS HOUSES, Margie Blok, *Sydney Morning Herald*, 25 October 2001, Domain page 26, Retrieved 8 January 2017, From,

http://newsstore.fairfax.com.au/apps/viewDocument.ac?page=1&sy=nstore&kw =depena&pb=all_ffx&dt=selectRange&dr=entire&so=relevance&sf=text&sf=head line&rc=10&rm=200&sp=nrm&clsPage=1&docID=news011025_0004_4487 ⁵⁸ BRIGHTON-LE-SANDS, *Australia for everyone*, Retrieved 14 December 2016, from, http://www.visitsydneyaustralia.com.au/brighton-le-sands.html
 ⁵⁹ BOTANY WEST, *Atlas of the suburbs of Sydney ca. 1885-1890*, Retrieved 14 December 2016, from,

http://www.photosau.com.au/cosmaps/scripts/displayMap.asp?Term=AS%2FBo tany+West&Atlas+of+Suburbs=AS%2FBotany+West

⁶⁰ NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, Birth Index no. 31145/1891

⁶¹ Family Notices (1941, December 31). *The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW : 1842 - 1954)*, p. 15. Retrieved November 28, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article17781224

⁶² NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, Birth Index no. 29740/1894
 ⁶³ NSW Electoral Rolls 1930, 1933, 1935, 1936, 1937

⁶⁴ NINDS HEREDITARY SPASTIC PARAPLEGIA INFORMATION PAGE, *National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke,* Retrieved 10 December 2016, from,

http://www.ninds.nih.gov/disorders/hereditary_spastic_paraplegia/hereditary_s pastic_paraplegia.htm

⁶⁵ NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, Death Index no. 5410/1933

⁶⁶ New South Wales, Australia, Government Gazettes, 1853-1899, May-June 1898. Retrieved 28 March 2017, from www. ancestry.com.au. Agnes de Pena is recorded as registering a cattle brand, AdP.

⁶⁷ A WONDERFUL DAD. (1933, May 19). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 2. Retrieved January 11, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232208868

⁶⁸ OBITUARY. (1933, May 12). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p.
 2. Retrieved January 11, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232208832
 ⁶⁹ Woronora Cemetery, Sutherland, Anglican Monumental Section Ad, plot no.
 307

⁷⁰ NSW Index to Deceased Estate Files 1859-1958

⁷¹ JAMES STEPHEN'S DOCTRINE OF A WHITE AUSTRALIA, Ohlsson, Tony, *Journal* of the Royal Australian Historical Society vol. 102, part 2, December 2016

⁷² POPULATION, *A Statistical Account of the Seven Colonies of Australasia 1890*, Australian Bureau of Statistics, Retrieved 4 December 2016, from,

http://www.ausstats.abs.gov.au/ausstats/free.nsf/0/6964E00708FCA25BCA257F 5000075F18/\$File/03_13980_1890_Population.pdf ⁷³ TRIUMPHED OVER HIS COLOR (1934, September 9). *The Sun (Sydney, NSW : 1910 - 1954)*, p. 3 (STUMPS EDITION). Retrieved December 2, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article230313800

⁷⁴ The Koori History Website. Retrieved 26 May 2017, from,

http://www.kooriweb.org/foley/images/history/toons/toon67.html

⁷⁵ BLUE WILLIAM BILLY (1767-1834), Margaret Park, *Australian Dictionary of Biography*, Retrieved 4 December 2016, from,

http://adb.anu.edu.au/biography/blue-william-billy-12804

⁷⁶ NSW Department of Education and Communities, *Government Schools of NSW from 1848,* Retrieved 27 January 2017, from,

http://www.governmentschools.det.nsw.edu.au/teacher_education.shtm

⁷⁷ NSW Department of Education and Communities, *Government Schools of NSW from 1848,* Retrieved 24 January 2017, From,

http://www.governmentschools.det.nsw.edu.au/story/instruction_act.shtm ⁷⁸ Sans Souci Public School 1885-1985, Published by Sans Souci Public School, Sydney, 1985

⁷⁹ SWIMMING. (1903, March 25). *The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW : 1842 - 1954)*, p. 10. Retrieved January 11, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article14564032

⁸⁰ KOGARH PUBLIC SCHOOL CARNIVAL. AN INTERESTING EVENT. (1904, March 27). Sunday Times (Sydney, NSW : 1895 - 1930), p. 6. Retrieved January 11, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article127801680

⁸¹ NSW Department of Education and Communities, *Government Schools of NSW from 1848*, Retrieved 24 January 2017, from,

http://www.governmentschools.det.nsw.edu.au/main_pages/school_details.asp x?schoolID=4457

⁸² NSW Department of Education and Communities, *Government Schools of NSW from 1848*, Retrieved 24 January 2017, From,

http://www.governmentschools.det.nsw.edu.au/story/instruction_act.shtm ⁸³ SYDNEY CHAMBER OF COMMERCE. (1905, February 2). *The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW : 1842 - 1954)*, p. 7. Retrieved January 11, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article14710852

⁸⁴ Kogarah School, Monograph no. 2, J.J. Fletcher, Kogarah Historical Society
 ⁸⁵ PROGRESS AND PETER DEPENA, St George and Sutherland Shire Leader, 13
 September 1961, p1

⁸⁶ KOGARAH TECHNICAL COLLEGE. (1923, June 1). The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957), p. 3. Retrieved December 2, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article163234211

⁸⁷ SYDNEY TECHNICAL COLLEGE. (1908, January 11). The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW : 1842 - 1954), p. 14. Retrieved January 11, 2017, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article14891511

⁸⁸ NSW State Records NSW, Department of School Education 1880 – 1997.NRS 15051 / Series: Photographic collection (01/01/1963 - 31/12/1991), Item / Sans Souci Public School (01/01/1880 - 31/12/1980)

⁸⁹ BICYCLE BULLETIN. (1908, November 21). The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957), p. 5. Retrieved January 11, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.newsarticle209635016

⁹⁰ RETIRED PUG DEPENA (1926, February 28). *Truth (Sydney, NSW : 1894 - 1954)*, p. 20. Retrieved November 28, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.newsarticle168720100

91 THE SECOND NIGHT. (1909, June 23). Sydney Sportsman (Surry Hills, NSW : 1900 - 1954), p. 6. Retrieved January 11, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.newsarticle166737023

⁹² BOXING. (1913, July 4). *Townsville Daily Bulletin (Qld. : 1907 - 1954)*, p. 7. Retrieved December 31, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article60106657 ⁹³ BOXING. (1914, October 1). Daily Standard (Brisbane, Qld. : 1912 - 1936), p. 7

(SECOND EDITION). Retrieved December 31, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article178843232

⁹⁴ WHY HE REMEMBERED. (1923, July 26). *Tweed Daily (Murwillumbah, NSW :*

1914 - 1949), p. 2. Retrieved November 28, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article190174461

95 CUM. INTEREST (1925, July 27). The Sun (Sydney, NSW : 1910 - 1954), p. 9 (FINAL EXTRA). Retrieved November 28, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-

article223728512

⁹⁶ DAVE DEPENA (1911, October 14). The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 -1957), p. 7. Retrieved January 16, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.newsarticle209180417

⁹⁷ ALLEGED ASSAULT. (1925, November 13). The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW : 1842 - 1954), p. 13. Retrieved November 28, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article16254533

⁹⁸ QUARTER SESSIONS. (1925, December 15). The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW :

1842 - 1954), p. 7. Retrieved November 28, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article16274892

⁹⁹ QUARTER SESSIONS. (1926, February 19). The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW :

1842 - 1954), p. 7. Retrieved November 28, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article16272171

¹⁰⁰ EX-BOXER IN COURT (1926, February 23). Evening News (Sydney, NSW : 1869 -1931), p. 7. Retrieved November 28, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.newsarticle126137005

¹⁰¹ RETIRED PUG DEPENA (1926, February 28). *Truth (Sydney, NSW : 1894 - 1954)*, p. 20. Retrieved November 28, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.newsarticle168720100

¹⁰² TIPPING COMPETITION (1930, December 10). *Tweed Daily (Murwillumbah, NSW : 1914 - 1949*), p. 4. Retrieved November 28, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article191674103

¹⁰³ FIGHT IN PITT-STREET (1933, August 17). *The Sun (Sydney, NSW : 1910 - 1954)*,

p. 2 (FINAL EXTRA). Retrieved November 28, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article231440400

¹⁰⁴ SEQUESTRATION ORDERS (1951, January 17). The Sydney Morning Herald

(NSW : 1842 - 1954), p. 7. Retrieved November 28, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article18195394

¹⁰⁵ NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages. Death Index no. 21484/1951 ¹⁰⁶ Racing NSW, Retrieved 8 February 2017, from,

http://www.racingnsw.com.au/default.aspx?s=notices-display&id=20295

¹⁰⁷ Advertising (1914, April 18). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 7. Retrieved January 26, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-

article163232337

¹⁰⁸ HINDUS AT VARIANCE. (1917, August 3). Daily Herald (Adelaide, SA : 1910 -1924), p. 8. Retrieved January 26, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.newsarticle124860036

¹⁰⁹ Sands Directories 1919-1929

¹¹⁰ Advertising (1952, July 23). *The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW : 1842 - 1954)*,

p. 12. Retrieved January 26, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.newsarticle18274433

¹¹¹ NSW Electoral rolls 1930-1972

 112 NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, Death Index no. 16001/1977 in the name of MUNSHI CLARICE LIETH

¹¹³ Woronora Cemetery, section HH - Rose Garden 12 -plot 0080

¹¹⁴ NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, Birth Index no. 28023/1896).

¹¹⁵ NSW and Victorian Electoral Rolls 1903-1928

¹¹⁶ *Rockdale Council Minutes,* 3 September 1929, page 6194

¹¹⁷ Australian Electoral Rolls 1903-1954

¹¹⁸ NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, Marriage Certificate, Index no. 5964/1914

¹¹⁹ ABORIGINAL SERVICE DURING THE FIRST WORLD WAR, *Australian War Memorial*, Retrieved 7 February 2017, from, https://www.awm.gov.au/1914-1918/indigenous-service/

¹²⁰ NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, Birth Index no. 28599/1914

 $^{\rm 121}$ NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, Death Index no. 10470/1914.

¹²² NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, Death Index no. 18726/1922
 ¹²³ National Archives of Australia Catalogue, *NAA: B884, N103368,* Retrieved 8
 December, 2016, from,

http://recordsearch.naa.gov.au/SearchNRetrieve/Interface/DetailsReports/Item Detail.aspx?Barcode=5677091&isAv=N

¹²⁴ National Archives of Australia Catalogue, *NAA: B884, N39677,* Retrieved 8 December, 2016, from,

http://recordsearch.naa.gov.au/SearchNRetrieve/Interface/DetailsReports/Item Detail.aspx?Barcode=5611664&isAv=N

¹²⁵ Peter Joffre Birth Certificate, NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages Index # 38717/1915

¹²⁶ SANS SOUCI SUMMARY (1907, July 13). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 5. Retrieved January 11, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article209631169

¹²⁷ Interview with Mark De Pena, 22 February 2017

¹²⁸ Cook Park signage, Russel Avenue, Sans Souci.

 $^{\rm 129}$ Advertising (1938, January 22). The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW : 1842 -

1954), p. 30, column 3. Retrieved December 31, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article17434414

¹³⁰ ALD. PETER DEPENA'S BIRTHDAT. (1929, July 5). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 5. Retrieved November 23, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232078034

¹³¹ NSW Electoral Rolls 1915-1963

¹³² AMATEUR BOXING. (1910, April 16). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904*

- 1957), p. 4. Retrieved December 4, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article209175881

¹³³ SULLIVAN OUTPOINTS DEPENA. (1912, June 22). *The Sydney Morning Herald* (*NSW* : 1842 - 1954), p. 18. Retrieved November 24, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article28130212

¹³⁴ BOXING. (1912, June 15). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p.
7. Retrieved November 23, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article211313093

¹³⁵ 1912 'SPORT.', South Coast Times and Wollongong Argus (NSW : 1900 - 1954),
27 December, p. 14., viewed 26 Nov 2016, http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article141912660

¹³⁶ THE RING. (1912, June 19). *Sydney Sportsman (Surry Hills, NSW : 1900 - 1954)*, p. 6. Retrieved November 24, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article168601823

¹³⁷ BOXER IN BATHURST. (1912, December 28). *The Bathurst Times (NSW : 1909 - 1925)*, p. 2. Retrieved November 26, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article111364318

¹³⁸ BOXING. (1913, January 10). South Coast Times and Wollongong Argus (NSW : 1900 - 1954), p. 12. Retrieved November 23, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article142133704

¹³⁹ AXEMEN'S CORNER (1936, December 17). *Referee (Sydney, NSW : 1886 - 1939)*, p. 16. Retrieved November 24, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article135653799

¹⁴⁰ DEPENA v. BARRETT. (1913, January 6). *Barrier Miner (Broken Hill, NSW : 1888 - 1954)*, p. 2. Retrieved November 24, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article45245813

¹⁴¹ BOXING BITS. (1912, November 16). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 4. Retrieved November 24, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article211314548

¹⁴² BOXING (1956, January 26). Nepean Times (Penrith, NSW : 1882 - 1962), p. 7.
 Retrieved January 16, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article101355901
 This article says that Peter Depena fought Les Darcy, but it was actually his brother Dave Depena. They both trained with Langford.

¹⁴³ SPORT. (1913, January 3). South Coast Times and Wollongong Argus (NSW :

1900 - 1954), p. 12. Retrieved December 2, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article142134900

¹⁴⁴ ROCKDALE BENEVOLENT FUND (1930, June 13). The St George Call (Kogarah,

NSW : 1904 - 1957), p. 1. Retrieved December 1, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232194118

¹⁴⁵ Evolution of apprenticeships and traineeships in Australia: an unfinished history, page 14, Brian Knight, NCVER, 2012

¹⁴⁶ PROGRESS AND PETER DEPENA, St George and Sutherland Shire Leader, 13 September 1961, p1

¹⁴⁷ PETER DEPENA FOR SCARBOROUGH. (1928, November 23). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 2. Retrieved November 22, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232075455

¹⁴⁸ FLIES AND MOSQUITOES. (1917, November 10). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 7. Retrieved January 11, 2017, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article162772217

¹⁴⁹ Advertising (1919, May 10). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*,
p. 4. Retrieved December 4, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article162876374

¹⁵⁰ Advertising (1919, March 18). *The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW : 1842 - 1954)*, p. 4. Retrieved December 4, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article15830203

¹⁵¹ Australian Tuckpointing and Repointing, Retrieved 4 December 2016, from, http://www.australiatuckpointing.com.au/faqs/

¹⁵² Advertising (1921, December 16). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 1. Retrieved December 4, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article162877513

¹⁵³ Advertising (1923, September 28). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 6. Retrieved December 4, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232052743

¹⁵⁴ LINKING A NATION: AUSTRALIA'S TRANSPORT AND COMMUNICATIONS 1788 -1970 - CHAPTER 10 MOBILITY CULTURE IN MID-TWENTIETH CENTURY

AUSTRALIA, Australian Government Department of Environment and Energy, Retrieved 4 December 2016, from,

https://www.environment.gov.au/heritage/ahc/publications/linking-a-nation/chapter10

155 BURGLARY AT RAMSGATE. (1925, January 9). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 2. Retrieved November 24, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article23205842

¹⁵⁶ Advertising (1923, December 28). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 2. Retrieved December 4, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232054031

¹⁵⁷ ABS, Retrieved 29 May 2017, from,

http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/9309.0

¹⁵⁸ A NOTABLE AUSTRALIAN. (1927, July 16). The World's News (Sydney, NSW : 1901 - 1955), p. 9. Retrieved May 29, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article130603881

¹⁵⁹ 1900 MILES BY MOTOR CAR (1923, April 28). Casino and Kyogle Courier and North Coast Advertiser (NSW : 1904 - 1932), p. 4. Retrieved May 29, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article234054877

160 Interview with Mark De Pena, 22 February 2017

161 Family Notices (1922, June 9). The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957), p. 5. Retrieved November 26, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article163235363

¹⁶² AUSTRALIA'S 'LUNATIC ASYLUM' HORRORS: 'IT WAS ONE FLEW OVER THE CUCKOO'S NEST IN REALITY'. *News.Com.Au*. Retrieved 25 November 2016 from http://www.news.com.au/lifestyle/real-life/true-stories/australias-lunatic-asylum-horrors-it-was-one-flew-over-the-cuckoos-nest-in-reality/news-story/a99d3b8d01698777e528e671a0560975

¹⁶³ DROWNINGS-AND-UNEXPLAINED-DEATHS-NAIL-PULLING-AND-SEXUAL-ABUSE-WELCOME-TO-THE-DARK-AND-SAD-99YEAR-HISTORY-OF-THE-CREEPY-PEAT-ISLAND *Daily Telegraph* 30 October 2014. Retrieved 30 November 2016 from http://www.dailytelegraph.com.au/news/nsw/drownings-and-unexplaineddeaths-nail-pulling-and-sexual-abuse-welcome-to-the-dark-and-sad-99yearhistory-of-the-creepy-peat-island/news-

story/a4e2aaaede846b4310fce48d67429917

¹⁶⁴ State Records NSW, NRS 12932, Series: Original Prints of Photographs used in NSW trains, View of the Peat Island on the Hawkesbury River (NSW), Retrieved 2 February2017, from, https://www.records.nsw.gov.au/image/12932-a012-a012x2444000086

¹⁶⁵ ST. GEORGE BRANCH. (1928, September 5). *Construction and Local*

Government Journal (Sydney, NSW : 1913 - 1930), p. 14. Retrieved December 1, 2016, from http://www.article.100720620.

2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article109729639

¹⁶⁶ KOGARAH TECHNICAL COLLEGE. (1923, June 1). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 3. Retrieved December 2, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article163234211

¹⁶⁷ EMPLOYEES' PICNIC. (1926, September 10). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 2. Retrieved November 24, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232065941

¹⁶⁸ SUPERSTITIOUS? (1930, August 29). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 2. Retrieved December 1, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232195148

¹⁶⁹ PROGRESSIVE PROGRESS ASSN. (1930, September 5). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 2. Retrieved December 1, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232195268

¹⁷⁰ COOK PARK WORKING BEE. (1930, May 9). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 5. Retrieved January 12, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232193724

¹⁷¹ "THE MEN WHO BUILD" (1928, December 27). *Construction and Local* Government Journal (Sydney, NSW : 1913 - 1930), p. 15. Retrieved December 3, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article109727983

172 ROCKDALE ALDERMAN SAVES MATE FROM DEATH. (1936, September

11). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 2. Retrieved January 12, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232224585

¹⁷³ "TAKE THE LOT": TAX FINES (1939, November 9). *The Sun (Sydney, NSW : 1910 - 1954)*, p. 17 (LATE FINAL EXTRA). Retrieved December 1, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article231496840

¹⁷⁴ SAILING. (1910, October 15). *The Arrow (Sydney, NSW : 1896 - 1912)*, p. 7.
 Retrieved December 4, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article122143425
 ¹⁷⁵ TECHNICAL COLLEGE CLUB. (1907, February 18). *The Sydney Morning Herald*

(NSW : 1842 - 1954), p. 11. Retrieved January 11, 2017, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article14842040

¹⁷⁶ ST. GEORGE CLUB. (1908, February 7). *The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW : 1842 - 1954)*, p. 10. Retrieved January 11, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article14954305

¹⁷⁷ FOOTBALL. (1909, August 21). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 5. Retrieved January 11, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-

article209180170

¹⁷⁸ SCARBOROUGH L.S. CLUB. (1935, September 13). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 5. Retrieved January 1, 2017, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232219985

¹⁷⁹ ST. GEORGE LADIES CRICKET. (1932, August 12). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 5. Retrieved January 16, 2017, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232205573

¹⁸⁰ CYCLING (1908, November 13). The Australian Star (Sydney, NSW : 1887 -

1909), p. 5 (FIRST EDITION). Retrieved January 11, 2017, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article229091582

¹⁸¹ BILLIARDS (1935, September 27). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 2. Retrieved November 24, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232220127

¹⁸² PETER DEPENA FOR SCARBOROUGH. (1928, November 23). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 2. Retrieved November 22, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232075455

¹⁸³ AUSTRALIAN RULES (1907, July 6). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 6. Retrieved January 11, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article209632780

¹⁸⁴, THE GAME OF BLOBS, *Bliss in the Burbs*, 6 March 2014, retrieved 28 January 2017, from, http://blissintheburbs-kayly.blogspot.com.au/2014/03/the-games-of-bobs.html

¹⁸⁵ GEORGES RIVER SAILING CLUB, (1931, August 21). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 4. Retrieved December 1, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232200531

¹⁸⁶ INTER-CLUB RACING. (1926, October 29). Arrow (Sydney, NSW : 1916 - 1933),p. 16. Retrieved December 1, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-

article103438433

¹⁸⁷ ST. GEORGE SAILING CLUB. (1921, August 26). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 5. Retrieved December 2, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article162877135

¹⁸⁸ SNAPS AT SPORTS (1932, January 10). *Truth (Sydney, NSW : 1894 - 1954)*, p. 7.
 Retrieved December 2, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article169142915

189 ALD. PETER DEPENA. (1929, January 18). The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW :

1904 - 1957), p. 5. Retrieved November 23, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232076290

¹⁹⁰ ALD. PETER DEPENA and ALF POLLDORE ON THEIR WAY TO W.A. (1929, January 4). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 4. Retrieved November 23, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232076114

¹⁹¹ Sans Souci Public School 1885-1985, Published by Sans Souci Public School, Sydney, 1985

¹⁹² YACHTING; SUNBEAMS GOOD WIN- EVENTS FOR TOMORROW (1921, January 28). Arrow (Sydney, NSW : 1916 - 1933), p. 16. Retrieved December 1, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article103429593

¹⁹³ RAMSGATE AMATEUR SWIMMING AND LIFE SAVING CLUB. (1926, October
8). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 3. Retrieved December 1, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232066333

¹⁹⁴ RAMSGATE BILLIARD TOURNEY. (1924, May 9). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 4. Retrieved December 1, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232055646

¹⁹⁵ BILLIARDS (1935, October 18). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 5. Retrieved December 1, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232220422

¹⁹⁶ ST. GEORGE JUNIOR FOOTBALL ASSOCIATION. (1910, February 26). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 8. Retrieved December 2, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article209180875

¹⁹⁷ RAMSGATE PRESENTATION DANCE. (1923, September 21). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 1. Retrieved December 1, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232052707

¹⁹⁸ LEAGUE FOOTBALL. (1921, March 12). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 7. Retrieved December 2, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article162875924

¹⁹⁹ *Rockdale Council Minutes,* 18 July 1929, item 950

²⁰⁰ ATHLETIC ALDERMEN. (1936, January 10). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 6. Retrieved January 16, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232221450

²⁰¹ ALDERMEN ON THE EVE. (1936, February 7). The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957), p. 6. Retrieved January 15, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232221816 ²⁰² "ALDIES" IN THE SWIM. (1936, February 28). The St George Call (Kogarah,

NSW : 1904 - 1957), p. 1. Retrieved January 15, 2017, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232222105

²⁰³ Rockdale Council Minutes, 4 March 1937, page 1493

²⁰⁴ "BIG DRAW CARDS." (1937, March 9). The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW :

1842 - 1954), p. 11. Retrieved December 27, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article17350460

²⁰⁵ ROCKDALE'S BEAUTY. (1937, February 12). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW :*

1904 - 1957), p. 1. Retrieved December 28, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232226568

²⁰⁶ Rockdale Council Minutes, 18 March 1937, page 1519

²⁰⁷ ALDERMEN SWIMMERS. (1937, February 26). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 1. Retrieved December 28, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232226808

²⁰⁸ Interview with Mark De Pena, 22 February 2017

²⁰⁹ AXEMEN'S CORNER (1936, December 17). *Referee (Sydney, NSW : 1886 - 1939)*, p. 16. Retrieved November 24, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article135653799

²¹⁰ Family Notices (1933, May 11). *The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW : 1842 - 1954)*, p. 9. Retrieved December 20, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article16977028

²¹¹ BISHOP RIDLEY, No. 269 (KOGARAH). (1920, December 16). *Watchman* (*Sydney, NSW : 1902 - 1926*), p. 8. Retrieved November 24, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article112390519

²¹² Pixabay, https://pixabay.com/en/freemason-freemasonry-square-309722/

²¹³ BISHOP RIDLEY, No. 259. (1922, September 21). Watchman (Sydney, NSW :

1902 - 1926), p. 8. Retrieved December 13, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article112234366

²¹⁴ CELEBRATIONS AT KOGARAH. (1910, February 17). Watchman (Sydney, NSW :

1902 - 1926), p. 4. Retrieved December 13, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article112398440

²¹⁵ THE TWELFTH, Wikipedia, Retrieved 13 December 2016, from,

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/The_Twelfth

²¹⁶ PROTESTANT ALLIANCE. (1921, November 4). The St George Call (Kogarah,

NSW : 1904 - 1957), p. 7. Retrieved December 1, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article162876334

²¹⁷ Wikipedia. Retrieved 14 December 2016, from,

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Potato_race

²¹⁸ MILITARY SPORTS. (1886, September 25). *South Australian Weekly Chronicle* (*Adelaide, SA : 1881 - 1889*), p. 15. Retrieved January 9, 2017, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article93840307

²¹⁹ TOURNAMENTS AND COMBATIVE EXHIBITIONS IN VICTORIAN ENGLAND, Tony Wolf, August 2001, Retrieved 9 January 2017, from,

http://ejmas.com/jmanly/articles/2001/jmanlyart_wolf2_0801.htm

²²⁰ PROTESTANT ALLIANCE FRIENDLY SOCIETY. (1925, January 2). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 1. Retrieved December 13, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232058311

²²¹ ROCKDALE MUNICIPAL ELECTIONS. (1925, December 11). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 2. Retrieved December 1, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232062331

²²² Advertising (1928, November 30). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 5. Retrieved December 4, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232075574

²²³ *Rockdale Council Minutes*, 15 August 1929, item 1070

²²⁴ "OPEN-DOOR" POLICY (1930, March 6). *Evening News (Sydney, NSW : 1869 - 1931)*, p. 5. Retrieved November 24, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article125969173

²²⁵ ALDERMAN PETER DEPENA. (1928, December 7). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 2. Retrieved November 22, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232075639

²²⁶ Alderman Who Triumphed Over Color Prejudices (1934, September 15). *The Mail (Adelaide, SA : 1912 - 1954)*, p. 11. Retrieved February 1, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article58856406

²²⁷ A BOLD SYMBOL OF NATION'S PROGRESS': SYDNEY'S CAPTAIN COOK BRIDGE MARKS 50 YEARS, "*The Daily Telegraph*", O'Rourke, Jim, 28 May 2015, Retrieved 13 December 2016, from, http://www.dailytelegraph.com.au/news/nsw/a-boldsymbol-of-nations-progress-sydneys-captain-cook-bridge-marks-50-years/newsstory/3cda77b8803d4930d30e1520b5e6aa38

²²⁸ Gregory's Street Directory of Sydney & Suburbs 1st edition 1934 commemorative reprint, Gregory's, Sydney, 2006 ²²⁹ LETTERS TO THE EDITOR (1934, October 5). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW:*

1904 - 1957), p. 6. Retrieved November 26, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232215556

²³⁰ THE OLD STEAM TRAM. (1929, July 19). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW:*

1904 - 1957), p. 2. Retrieved November 26, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232078200

231 KOGARAH-SANS SOUCI TRAM. (1929, May 31). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 2. Retrieved November 26, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232077647

²³² CONGRATULATIONS! (1934, June 22). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW: 1904 - 1957)*, p. 2. Retrieved November 24, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232214153

²³³ TROLLEY BUS ROUTES TO REPLACE STEAM TRAM (1936, May 20). *Construction and Real Estate Journal (Sydney, NSW: 1930 - 1938)*, p. 6. Retrieved December 27, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article222919134

²³⁴ MR. MADDOCKS ENTHUSIASTIC (1936, October 23). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW: 1904 - 1957)*, p. 1. Retrieved December 27, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232225140

²³⁵ TO THE EDITOR, (1936, April 3). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW: 1904 - 1957)*, p. 2. Retrieved November 26, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232222515

²³⁶ Rockdale Council Minutes, 13 May 1937, page 1595

²³⁷ SEAPLANE BASE (1937, July 17). *Newcastle Morning Herald and Miners' Advocate (NSW: 1876 - 1954)*, p. 13. Retrieved December 27, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article134953447

²³⁸ ROSE BAY AIRPORT, *Dictionary of Sydney*, Hanna, Kim, 2014, Retrieved 26
 December 2016, From, http://dictionaryofsydney.org/entry/rose_bay_airport
 ²³⁹ Rockdale Council Minutes, 27 May 1937, page 1616

²⁴⁰ State Records NSW, Photographs of metropolitan, country roads ferries etc., and miscellaneous operations, New South Wales, H141 - Guests at opening of Rocky Point Road, 1 January 1930, Retrieved 8 December, 2016, from, https://www.records.nsw.gov.au/image/20224a038001211

²⁴¹ Rockdale Council and Town Clerk (1933, September 29). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW: 1904 - 1957)*, p. 2. Retrieved January 16, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232210472

²⁴² AUDITORS ATTACK ALDERMEN (1933, December 1). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW: 1904 - 1957),* p. 1. Retrieved January 16, 2017, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232211457

²⁴³ ROCKDALE MUNICIPAL ENQUIRY. (1933, October 27). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 6. Retrieved January 16, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232210910

²⁴⁴ SCARBOROUGH PARK SPORTS AREA. (1934, November 30). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 6. Retrieved January 1, 2017, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232216326

²⁴⁵ Advertising (1934, November 30). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW: 1904 - 1957)*, p. 2. Retrieved January 1, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232216268

²⁴⁶ Rockdale Council Minutes, 27 May 1937, page 1615

²⁴⁷ Rockdale Council Minutes, 10 June 1937, page 1630

²⁴⁸ "HOARDING NEAR SCHOOL" *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW: 1904 - 1957)* 12 March 1937: 2. Web. 28 Dec 2016 < http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232226985

²⁴⁹ ROCKDALE FIREWORKS. (1931, March 6). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW: 1904 - 1957)*, p. 1. Retrieved January 12, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232197860

²⁵⁰ BEST "COP" IN N.S.W. (1936, April 24). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW:* 1904 - 1957), p. 1. Retrieved January 12, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232222793

²⁵¹ Rockdale Council Minutes, 15 April 1937, page 1556

²⁵² BULLYRAGGING (1937, April 2). *The Armidale Express and New England General Advertiser (NSW: 1856 - 1861; 1863 - 1889; 1891 - 1954)*, p. 1 (FINAL EDITION). Retrieved December 28, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.newsarticle194207202

253 "BULLY RAGGING POLICE." (1937, April 9). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 1. Retrieved December 28, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232227418

254 Advertising (1934, November 30). The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957), p. 2. Retrieved January 1, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232216268

²⁵⁵ PERSONAL. (1934, November 16). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 2. Retrieved December 1, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232216094

²⁵⁶ Advertising (1937, December 3). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 2. Retrieved December 4, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232230737

²⁵⁷ MUNICIPAL ELECTIONS. (1937, December 3). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 2. Retrieved December 28, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232230747

²⁵⁸ MUNICIPAL ELECTIONS. (1937, December 3). *The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957)*, p. 2. Retrieved December 28, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232230747

²⁵⁹ PROGRESS AND PETER DEPENA, St George and Sutherland Shire Leader, 13 September 1961, p1

²⁶⁰ MAYORAL REPORT AT CLOSE OF TRIENNIAL TERM, Mayor Fred W. Beehag, Rockdale Council Minutes, 15 November 1937, pages 1852-1865

²⁶¹ SUBURBAN MUNICIPALITIES. (1937, December 6). *The Sydney Morning Herald*

(NSW : 1842 - 1954), p. 8. Retrieved December 31, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article17439946

²⁶² Advertising (1938, January 22). The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW : 1842 -

1954), p. 30, column 3. Retrieved December 31, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article17434414

²⁶³ KOGARAH COURT. (1944, February 25). The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957), p. 2. Retrieved April 8, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article233600058

²⁶⁴ Advertising (1939, March 18). The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW : 1842 -

1954), p. 31. Column 5, Retrieved December 31, 2016, from

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article17574964

²⁶⁵ NSW Electoral Rolls 1943-1958

²⁶⁶ KOGARAH POLICE COURT. (1944, May 19). The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW : 1904 - 1957), p. 2. Retrieved April 8, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article233600708

²⁶⁷ National Archives of Australia Catalogue, *NAA: B884, N39677,* Retrieved 8 December, 2016, from,

http://recordsearch.naa.gov.au/SearchNRetrieve/Interface/DetailsReports/Item Detail.aspx?Barcode=5611664&isAv=N

²⁶⁸ BOXING. (1938, August 11). *The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW : 1842 - 1954)*,
p. 16. Retrieved December 31, 2016, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article17476841

²⁶⁹ National Archives of Australia Catalogue, *NAA: B884, N103368,* Retrieved 8 December, 2016, from,

http://recordsearch.naa.gov.au/SearchNRetrieve/Interface/DetailsReports/Item Detail.aspx?Barcode=5677091&isAv=N

²⁷⁰ NSW Electoral rolls 1943-1980

- ²⁷¹ Ryerson Index, www.ryerson.org.au
- ²⁷² Woronora Cemetery, Floral Court Rose Garden 7, plot 35
- ²⁷³ Interview with Mark De Pena, 22 February 2007
- ²⁷⁴ NSW Electoral rolls 1968-1977
- ²⁷⁵ NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, Marriage Index 23395/1960.
- ²⁷⁶ Interview with Mark De Pena, 22 February 2017
- ²⁷⁷ NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, Death Index no. 1107/1967
- ²⁷⁸ Woronora Cemetery, Rose Garden section EE 16 plots 128 & 129

²⁷⁹ NRL 13660 Probate packets (01/04/1817 -), Item/ Series 4-572550 Simon
 Peter Depena, NSW State Records

²⁸⁰ *Death Certificate Simon Peter Depena*, Index no. 1964/14190, NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages.

 ²⁸¹ WHAT ARE THE SIGNS AND SYMPTOMS OF AN ANEURYSM? US Department of Health and Human Services, National Institute of Health, Retrieved 8 December,
 2016, from, https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/health-topics/topics/arm/signs
 ²⁸² Interview with Mark De Pena, 22 February 2007

²⁸³ Simon Peter Depena Death Certificate, NSW BDM index no. 14190/1964

- $^{\rm 284}$ Woronora Cemetery, Rose Garden Section Dd # 25-116 and 25-117
- ²⁸⁵ COOK PARK. (1930, May 31). The St George Call (Kogarah, NSW: 1904 1957),
- p. 2. Retrieved January 16, 2017, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article232193895

²⁸⁶ Email from Fiona MacColl, Bayside Council Landscape Infrastructure Planner, 16 March 2017